Alterations in growth factor levels in plasma after stroke or exercise

Elise Fritsch



Master Thesis for the title of Master in Pharmacy Department of Pharmaceutical Biosciences School of Pharmacy 45 credits

The Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences UNIVERSITETET I OSLO

May 2021

Alterations in growth factor levels in plasma after stroke or exercise

Elise Fritsch



Master Thesis for the title of Master in Pharmacy Department of Pharmaceutical Biosciences School of Pharmacy 45 credits

The Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences UNIVERSITETET I OSLO

May 2021

© Elise Fritsch - Department of Pharmacy, The Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, University of Oslo

2021

Alterations in growth factor levels in plasma after stroke or exercise

Elise Fritsch

http://www.duo.uio.no

Print: University Print Centre, University of Oslo

Acknowledgements

The work presented in this master thesis has been performed in the Neurobiology and Toxicology group at the Section for Pharmacology and Pharmaceutical Biosciences, Department of Pharmacy, University of Oslo from August 2020 to May 2021.

In a time ruled by home office and strict social restrictions due to COVID-19, I have been truly grateful for being able to go to the laboratory, having a relatively normal everyday study life. Still, I must admit that the current situation also has had its downsides, making this year a bit lonelier and more independent than I had imagined my master year to be.

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisor associate professor Cecilie Morland, for giving me the opportunity and for your guidance through my thesis. Your optimism and positive attitude throughout have been highly appreciated. I would also like to thank Linda Thøring Øverberg for letting me be a part of your PhD project and for good (and some frustrating) times at the laboratory.

Most of the work have been carried out at the laboratory in Gydasvei, and I want to thank everyone there for letting me occupy their laboratory benches. A special thanks to Hilde Nilsen for always being helpful, that has meant a lot to me.

Thanks to my family and friends, for always being there for me. And last but not least, thanks to my fiancé Mathias for being the best support I could have ever asked for. You are the best!

Oslo, May 2021 Elise Fritsch

Abstract

Worldwide there are 80 million people who live with the impacts of stroke. Post-stroke impairments such as physical disability, cognitive decline, and depression are major burdens not only for the affected individual, but also for their relatives and for the society. Patients with the same type of brain injury show great differences in their cognitive and motor function recovery, and to this day the cause of this is not known. Neither is it known how to predict recovery after stroke. In this present study, we investigated how different growth factors (GFs) and irisin change after stroke or exercise, with the goal of providing clinically relevant knowledge of factors secreted to the blood which may affect the brain during the rehabilitation phase.

We compared plasma levels of the above-mentioned factors in plasma from stroke patients (n=48) taken the day after admission, and in plasma from age-/gender matched controls (n=48). The control group was exposed to high intensity interval exercise (4x4 minutes running/walking), and blood samples were taken at baseline (before), immediately after, and 30 minutes after the exercise. To detect the circulating concentrations of the different factors, sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs) were performed. Through our research we found significantly lower levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and epidermal growth factor (EGF) in the stroke patients compared to the baseline levels in the control group. When measuring basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) and irisin, we did not detect significant differences in the levels found in the stroke patients, when compared to the baseline levels in the control group. In response to exercise, the levels of BDNF and EGF significantly increased. This tendency was observed in both genders but was more prominent in men than in women, and for BDNF it was only statistically significant for the males. For Irisin and bFGF, on the other hand, no significant changes in the levels was discovered in response to exercise.

The results from this study lays the foundation for further studies on alterations in GFs and other biomarkers secreted in the blood, as a response to stroke and exercise. This may prove to represent critical information when aiming for more individually tailored treatment services after stroke, contributing to lessen the major disabilities seen after stroke, hence also the major burden on the effected individuals and the societal costs.

Abbreviations

Ahus	Akershus University hospital	
ADL	Activities of daily living	
Abs	Antibodies	
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate	
BBB	Blood-brain barrier	
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor	
bEGE	Basic fibroblast growth factor	
BMI	Body mass index	
CA	Capture antibody	
CBF	Cerebral blood flow	
CDT	Clock drawing test	
CNS	Central nervous system	
CV	Coefficient of variation	
DA	Detection antibody	
DAG	Diacylglycerol	
EGF	Epidermal growth factor	
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay	
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase	
EPO	Erythropoietin	
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor	
FNDC5	Fibronectin type III domain containing protein 5	
GF	Growth factor	
HADS	Hospital anxiety and depression scale	
HCAR1	Hydroxycarboxylic acid receptor 1	
HIF	Hypoxia inducible factor	
HIIT	High intensity interval training	
HR	Heart rate	
HSPG	Heparan sulfate proteoglycans	
Ig	Immunoglobulin	
IP ₃	Inositol-1,4,5-triphosphate	
K2EDTA	K2 ethylendiaminetetraacetic	
MAP	Mitogen-activated protein kinase	
MMPs	Matrix metalloproteases	
MMSE	Mini-mental state examination	
MMSE-NR3	Norwegian Revised mini-mental state examination	
mAbs	Monoclonal antibodies	
mRS	Modified rankin scale	
NSCs	Neural stem cells	
NHR	Norwegian stroke registry	
NIPH	Norwegian institute of public health	
NP	Neuropilin	
NVU	Neurovascular unit	
pAbs	Polyclonal antibodies	
PA	Physical activity	
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline	

PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase	
PLC-y	Phospholipase C-γ	
PlGF	Placental growth factor	
p75 ^{NTR}	p75 neurotrophin receptors	
RD	Reagent diluent	
ROS	Reactive oxygen species	
RTKs	Receptor tyrosine kinases	
TIA	Transient ischemic attack	
TMT	Trail making test	
TMT-NR3	Norwegian Revised TMT	
Trk	Tropomyosin receptor kinase	
TrkB	Tropomyosin receptor kinase B	
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor	
WSO	World stroke organization	
SGZ	Subgranular zone	
STAT	Signal transducers and activators of transcription	
Streptavidin-HRP	Streptavidin conjugated to horseradish-peroxidase	
SVZ	Subventricular zone	
VO ₂ max	Maximal oxygen uptake	

Х

Table of Contents

1. INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Aetiology of stroke	2
1.2 The neurovascular unit	
1.3 PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF STROKE	
1.4 NEURAL PLASTICITY AFTER STROKE	6
1.4.1 Neurogenesis	6
1.4.2 Angiogenesis	8
1.5 GROWTH FACTORS IN THE REGULATION OF PLASTICITY	9
1.5.1 Vascular endothelial growth factor	9
1.5.2 Brain derived neurotrophic factor	
1.5.3 Basic fibroblast growth factor	
1.5.4 Epidermal growth factor	
1.6 Physical activity and stroke	14
1.7 DETERMINATION OF COGNITIVE AND FUNCTIONAL PERFORMANCE AFTER STROKE	
2. AIMS OF THE STUDY	
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1 Ethics	
3.2 Study subjects	
3.2.1 The stroke patients	
3.2.2 The control group	
3.2.2.1 Investigational test	19
3.2.2.2 Measurements and habits	20
3.2.2.3 Training procedure	20
3.3 SAMPLE COLLECTION	
3.4 ELISA	
3.4.1 Materials and chemicals	
3.4.2 Reconstitution and working diluents	
3.4.3 Sample dilution	
3.4.4 Stanaaras	
3.4.5 1 Ploto Propagation	20 کے 26
3.4.5.1 Plate Preparation	20 26
3 5 DATA ANALYSIS	28
3.6 STATISTICS	
	20
4. KESUL15	
4.1 BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS OF THE STUDY GROUP	28
4.2 GROWTH FACTOR LEVELS IN PLASMA	
4.3 BDNF	
4.3.1 Full dataset BDNF	
4.3.2 Effects of gender on the levels of BDNF	
4.3.3 Effects of age on the levels of BDNF	
4.3.4 Effects of stroke size on the levels of BDNF	
4.4 BFGF	
4.4.1 Full dataset bFGF	
4.4.2 Effects of gender on the levels of bFGF	
4.4.3 Effects of age on the levels of bFGF	
4.4.4 Effects of stroke size on the levels of bFGF	
4.5 LEVE deterat ECE	
4.5.1 Full addaset EUF	
4.3.2 Effects of genuer on the levels of EGF	
4.5.5 Effects of age on the levels of EGF	
4. J. 4 EJJECIS OJ SIFOKE SIZE ON INE IEVEIS OJ EGF	44 ٦ ۲
4.0 IKISIN	45 45
4.0.1 F uu uuusei A 7 VEGE	45 م د

5. DISCUSSION	
5.1 Methodological considerations	
5.1.1 Sandwich ELISA as immunoassay	
5.1.2 Plasma as a medium	
5.1.3 The control group and the measurement of exercise intensity	
5.2 DISCUSSION OF STUDY RESULTS	
5.2.1 Did stroke affect the outcome on cognitive tests?	
5.2.2 Discussion of BDNF results	
5.2.3 Discussion of bFGF results	
5.2.4 Discussion of EGF results	
5.2.5 Discussion of Irisin results	
6. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	
REFERENCES	

1. Introduction

Stroke is the second leading cause of death and a major cause of disability worldwide. According to World Stroke Organization (WSO), there are 13.7 million new stroke incidents each year, and their annual report estimated 80 million people to live with the impact of stroke in 2019 [1]. Incidence and mortality of stroke differ between countries, geographical regions, and ethnic groups. While the numbers are declining in high-income countries, stroke incidence in low- and middle-income countries has more than doubled over the last four decades [2].

In Norway, stroke is the leading cause of disability and institutional long-term care, and the third leading cause of death [3]. In 2019, the Norwegian Stroke Registry (NHR) reported 9,022 acute stroke cases. Of these patients, 55 % were men and 45 % were women, with a median age of 73 and 79, respectively [4]. Today the stroke mortality rate has decreased to less than 10 % due to effective treatment, but more than half of stroke survivors will experience greater or lesser degree of permanent disability [4, 5]. A common after-effect of stroke is various degrees of weakness or paralysis, ranging from a droopy eye to the entire side of the body being affected [6]. Physical disability can cause problems with even the simplest of daily activities. Stroke is also responsible for a significant cognitive decline, and represents an important contributing factor to about half of all dementia cases [3]. In addition, one third of the stroke survivors experience post-stroke depression [7]. Post-stroke cognitive impairment can affect the patient's ability to live independently even after recovery from physical disability and leads to an enhanced risk of recurrent strokes. Both cognitive impairment and depression are associated with further cognitive deficiency, greater functional disability, higher mortality and, finally, with worse rehabilitation outcome [8, 9].

Many post-stroke patients will have a need for long-term rehabilitation and care. Stroke is therefore a major health-related and economic burden, for both the affected individual and the society [3, 5]. There are few studies related to the costs of post-stroke care in Norway, but a study performed in 2018 estimated a monthly cost per patient to \$2,147 [10]. In another study from 2007, the total societal costs were estimated at 7 - 8 billion Norwegian kroner per year, not included informal care and nursing from relatives [5]. The stroke incidence will probably increase with 50 % over the next 20-30 years as the population ages. As a consequence, societal costs of stroke are expected to increase further in the years to come [3].

1.1 Aetiology of stroke

The term "stroke" is a broad concept, which simplified can be defined as lack of oxygen caused by impaired blood flow leading to cell death in the brain [2, 11]. The two major causes of stroke are an occlusion of a precerebral or cerebral artery, also known as ischemic stroke, or a hemorrhage. Both cause ischemia, which rapidly leads to necrosis in the stroke core. Ischemic stroke is responsible for 80-90 % of all strokes [2, 4, 12]. Transient ischemic attack (TIA) is a type of stroke caused by a temporary blockage of- or decrease in blood flow to the brain, which does not cause acute infarction [11]. In this thesis, the term "stroke" will be used to refer to classic ischemic stroke. When referring to hemorrhage strokes or TIA, this will be specified.

Ischemia is defined as a condition in which the blood flow, and thus the availability of oxygen and nutrients, is restricted or reduced in a part of the body [13, 14]. An ischemic stroke occurs when a blood vessel in the neck (precerebral artery) or brain (cerebral artery) is blocked, resulting in an insufficient cerebral blood flow (CBF) [15]. A blood cloth usually causes the blocking and can be due to thrombosis; the formation of a cloth within a blood vessel of the brain or neck, embolism; the formation of a clot in the periphery that travels with the blood stream to the brain, or a severe narrowing of an artery in or leading to the brain, called stenosis. The most common cause of stenosis is atherosclerosis, a condition with narrow arteries due to deposits of plaque in or on the artery walls [6].

If the lack of blood flow is limited to a specific region of the brain, the condition is called a focal stroke. If the hypoxic injury affects the entire brain, it is referred to as global stroke; global strokes are often more severe than focal strokes. Because different arteries supply different areas of the brain, the localization of the occlusion and the size of brain area supplied by the occluded artery will determine which functions are affected. The degree of damage also depends on whether the blocking is partial or total, and whether reperfusion occurs or not [6]. General health level and habits regarding physical activity before the stroke will also influence the outcome [16].

1.2 The neurovascular unit

The brain amounts for only 2 % of the human body mass but receive 15 % of the cardiac output and 20 % of the oxygen and glucose supply [17, 18]. Both oxygen and glucose are needed to generate adenosine triphosphate (ATP), which is the currency for cellular energy. It has been

estimated that one single cortical neuron utilizes approximately 4.7 billion ATPs per second in the resting human brain [19]. Despite the high energy demand, the brain has very few energy reserves of its own. A small storage of glycogen synthesized from glucose is found in astrocytes. Astrocytic glycogen can be broken down to lactate during hypoglycemia and lactate can be transferred to adjacent neurons or axons where it is used as metabolic fuel [20, 21]. In addition, newer studies have observed lipid droplets in the brain, but it is uncertain whether these are used as energy reserves [22]. The brain is therefore depended on a continuous blood flow to receive glucose and oxygen to maintain its high energy demand.

The CBF is regulated by a complex mechanism of communication between cellular and extracellular components that together form the neurovascular unit (NVU) [23]. In addition to control the CBF, a specialized part of the NVU is also responsible for the maintenance of the blood-brain barrier (BBB) [24], a highly selective semipermeable barrier made up by a continuous endothelial monolayer connected by tight and adherens junctions [25, 26]. This barrier is a protective mechanism, helping the central nervous system (CNS) maintain a stable environment protected from the fluctuating conditions of the blood [27].

The NVU consist of neurons and their axons, glial cells: astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, microglia and microvessels: endothelial cells, myocytes and pericytes (Figure 1) [23]. Neurons are able to detect very small variations in their supply of nutrients and oxygen, and transform this information into electrical and chemical messages that they send to adjacent interneurons or astrocytes [23]. Oligodendrocytes that are localized in close proximity to neuronal axons support axonal function both by supplying glucose [28] and by producing myelin sheaths that facilitates fast axonal transport of action potentials [29]. Astrocytes function as a connection between the neurons and the blood vessels. Astrocytic end feet are in contact with pericytes and the outer surface of the endothelial cells, connected by the basal lamina [26]. In response to changes in neuronal activity, astrocytes can signal to the endothelium and/or pericytes in order to regulate the CBF. Astrocytes also contribute to a variety of other functions in the brain, including synapse formation and plasticity [30]. The pericytes which are smooth muscle-like cells also act as macrophages [26]. Since they extend their processes around the basolateral surface of the endothelial cells, they are also able to influence on the vascular diameter, and therefore local CBF by contraction [30, 31]. In lager vessels, myocytes are also present and recognized as the main effectors of contractility [23].

The last cell type found in the NVU is microglia, known as the main immune cells of the CNS [32]. Microglia constantly screen the microenvironment within the NVU and can detect signals associated with an altered brain homeostasis. In addition, they communicate with neurons and play an important role in supporting neuronal functions [33]. There is also growing evidence for interactions between microglia and astrocytes and pericytes, as microglia are reported to promote astrocyte differentiation [34], and to regulate the detachment of pericytes via production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) [35]. As a consequence of the intricate cross-talk between the different cell types of the NVU, damage to one of the components may affect the function of the entire NVU.



Figure 1 Components of the neurovascular unit (NVU). The NVU consist of neurons, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, microglia, endothelial cells and pericytes. (Figure created with BioRender).

1.3 Pathophysiology of stroke

The large need for oxygen and glucose makes the brain exquisitely sensitive to ischemia. Small infarctions, well below the size that causes clinical signs in other organ systems, can cause severe symptoms from the brain [36].

A stroke results in a depletion of cellular ATP at a rate higher than it can be synthesized [37]. The resulting loss of energy stores results in ionic imbalance, neurotransmitter release, and inhibition of reuptake of excitatory neurotransmitters [36]. Especially accumulation of extracellular glutamate is important in the pathophysiology of stroke, causing excitotoxicity that result in activation of proteases and lipases, which in turn degrade membranes and proteins essential for cellular integrity [37, 38]. The mitochondrial production of ROS increases as a

consequence of limited oxygen supply and the glutamate induced excitotoxicity, and contributes to further cellular damage and apoptosis. As the neurons have relatively low levels of endogenous antioxidants, the brain is especially vulnerable to ROS when compared to most other organs [38, 39].

The injury after stroke can be divided into the irreversibly damaged infarct core and the ischemic penumbra surrounding it. Neurons in the core rapidly undergo necrosis, while the penumbra still receives some oxygen from the surrounding collateral arteries and may be rescued if adequate perfusion is restored in time [40, 41]. The degree of neural death depends on how long brain cells are deprived of blood and is proportional to the degree of loss in perfusion. If perfusion does not occur, the core size usually increases, while the salvageable penumbra decreases with time. Early reperfusion is essential to prevent extensive neural damage [36, 41].

Although rapid reperfusion is essential to prevent permanent damage to the brain, the reperfusion phase itself also may induce detrimental effects on the brain: immediately after the CBF is restored to the affected area, and glucose and oxygen flows freely, mechanisms from the ischemic phase are still ongoing. Increased access of oxygen can lead to a further surge in production of ROS, activating matrix metalloproteases (MMPs). MMPs degrade collagen and laminins in the basal lamina which disrupts the integrity of the vascular wall and increases BBB permeability [39]. Increased permeability can cause neuroinflammation as it allows the entry of molecules and immune cells that are normally prohibited by the BBB.

The brain responds to ischemic injury with both acute and prolonged inflammatory processes. Various cells that generate inflammatory mediators are recruited into the ischemic brain [36]. Microglia are the first line of cells reacting to the damage, and the primary source of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines. Release of these cytokines and chemokines causes local activation of microglia and mobilization of leukocytes [42]. In addition, oxidative and nitrative stress triggers recruitment and migration of neutrophils and other leukocytes to the cerebral vasculature, and these cells release enzymes that further increase basal lamina degradation and vascular permeability. These events can lead to parenchymal hemorrhage, vasogenic brain edema and further neutrophil infiltration into the brain [39].

The inflammatory response can be both detrimental and beneficial, depending on the balance between different components of the immune response, the degree of the response and when it occurs. Different pro- and anti-inflammatory mediators as well as other factors involved in tissue damage and/or repair may affect stroke outcome differently depending on whether they increase in the acute phase of a stroke or if they increase hours or days after the stroke.

1.4 Neural plasticity after stroke

As a response to experience, the nervous system has an ability to modify itself, functionally and structurally. This capacity underlies the brain's ability to learn and adapt to changes in the environment, and is referred to as "neural plasticity" [43]. Animal studies have revealed that neural plasticity can also be triggered by brain damage, and it is therefore considered as a mechanism for recovery after stroke [44].

Compared to other organs such as the liver and skin, the brain has a limited capacity for tissue regeneration after damage [45]. However, tissue repair does occur in the early stages of the recovery phase (3–30 days) [46]. Much of the recovery experienced at later time points, for instance during rehabilitation, is actually due to the brain rewiring itself. This implies that the brain finds new pathways so that other brain regions take over the function of brain regions that are lost to the stroke [47]. The recovery phase after stroke begins shortly after the acute injury has stimulated restorative processes and evolves over several weeks [48]. The most rapid recovery usually occurs during the first three to four months following the injury [49].

Neuronal plasticity includes processes such as angiogenesis and neurogenesis [50], tightly coordinated by communication within the NVU [51]. The two processes are largely stimulated by growth factors (GFs) and influence each other [52]. Both angiogenesis and neurogenesis have proven to be important contributing factors for functional recovery after stroke [53].

1.4.1 Neurogenesis

Neurogenesis is the process where new functional neurons are produced from neural stem/progenitor cells (NSCs). NSCs are multipotent cells which generate neurons and glial cells. Neurogenesis includes proliferation of endogenous NSCs, migration, and differentiation into mature functional neurons [53]. In the adult brain, neurogenesis occurs mainly at two

distinct regions: in the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral ventricles and subgranular zone (SGZ) in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus [54].

Ischemic stroke causes low levels of oxygen and varying degrees of neuronal death, which are strong stimulants for increased proliferation of progenitors/NSCs [55-57]. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and epidermal growth factor (EGF) are two GFs reported to be upregulated in the brain following stroke [58, 59], and known to induce the proliferation and differentiation of NSCs [60, 61]. While basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), another GF that is upregulated in the brain following stroke [62], is involved in the protection and enhancement of NSCs [63]. As a result, stroke-generated neuroblasts are produced and migrate towards the ischemic boarder guided by chemokines and cytokines secreted by resident activated microglia and astrocytes [64]. Once the neuroblasts reach the site of injury, they differentiate into new mature neurons, replacing lost or damaged ones [64].

Stroke is associated with increased neurogenesis [56], but the extent and relevance of injuryinduced neurogenesis is still not well understood. According to a review paper on neurogenesis and behavioral recovery, there is an impression that stroke-induced neurogenesis contributes to better recovery from stroke [65]. However, the majority of these studies are done on young rodents, while the typical stroke patient is elderly with several co-morbidities [66]. Although stroke-induced neurogenesis has been observed in elderly mice [67], neurogenesis may not be able to produce a full recovery of the damaged brain after stroke [68] as the number and capacity of NSCs decrease with age [69].

Furthermore, the majority of the stroke-generated neurons have been reported to undergo programmed cell death during the first two weeks after their formation [70] due to non-optimal conditions in the stroke core and boarder. Nevertheless, neurogenesis is still thought to be a key process in post-stroke recovery and repair of the damaged brain region [64]. This depend on survival of at least some of the newborn neurons, which to a large degree depend on GFs. One important source of GF, nutrients and oxygen to supply the survival of new neurons is new vasculature. The microvascular endothelial cells secrete GFs and chemokines, which may support the survival of the newly formed neurons [50]. Thus angiogenesis is directly linked to neurogenesis.

Newly formed blood vessels as a result of angiogenesis, are thought to enhance neurogenesis by enhancing proliferation of NSCs by expression of several extracellular signals, then supporting the migration of the cells toward the border of the ischemic core. The latter is done by supplying oxygen, nutrients, and soluble factors as well as serving as a scaffold for migration [71]. Induced oxygenation in the ischemic core will also facilitate the differentiation of the migrated NSCs into mature neurons [72].

1.4.2 Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis is defined as the formation of new microvessels by branching off from preexisting vessels [53]. The process begins with local degradation of the basement membrane surrounding the capillaries, allowing invasion of underlying endothelial cells. The endothelial cells proliferate and form a three-dimensional structure that join with other similar structures to build a network of new blood vessels [73, 74].

Under hypoxic conditions macrophages and other immune cells are recruited to the hypoxic region where they synthesize and secrete pro-angiogenic factors, such as VEGF and bFGF [75] [76]. After brain ischemia, endothelial cells start to proliferate at the border of the ischemic core, and after 4-7 days active angiogenesis takes place [77, 78]. Post-ischemic angiogenesis can be beneficial by contributing to neurogenesis as previously described, and by leading to enhanced oxygen and nutrient supply to the affected tissue [72, 79].

Angiogenesis can be measured by counting the number of blood vessels or measuring the percentage of tissue volume occupied by blood vessels. Both of these measures are often referred to as the microvessel density [80]. Several studies show that increased microvessel density in the penumbra of patients surviving acute ischemic stroke correlates with longer patient survival [78, 81, 82], suggesting that active angiogenesis is beneficial for the ischemic brain. Even so, it is also important to remember that the endothelial barrier function is severely compromised during the angiogenetic process. Factors such as VEGF and MMPs contribute to loosen the other-ways tight connection between the endothelial cells to allow endothelial sprouting. This leads to an increased vascular permeability which disrupts BBB function and in turn can lead to edema increased infarction size. Increased vascular permeability also increases the risk of hemorrhagic formation, further worsening stroke outcome. Finally, increased vessel density in the early phase after stroke may also contribute to enhanced

inflammatory reaction, further increasing neuronal damage [83]. The timing of angiogenesis after stroke therefore appears to be crucial. This has not been investigated experimentally, but one may speculate whether angiogenesis will be harmful if it occurs during the acute phase, while beneficial if occurring in the chronic phase.

1.5 Growth factors in the regulation of plasticity

GFs are a group of proteins that stimulate cellular processes, including cell survival, growth, proliferation and differentiation by inducing replicative DNA synthesis and cell division [84, 85]. Together, the combined action of GFs contribute to the regulation of angiogenesis and neurogenesis by binding to their respective receptors, mainly receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) [86]. Following ligand binding, RTKs usually form homodimers and phosphorylate each other, leading to the activation of several downstream signaling cascades, and subsequently initiating gene expression and protein synthesis [84]. The three major pathways activated are the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt pathway, and the phospholipase C- γ (PLC- γ) pathway [87]. The pathways regulate partly overlapping functions.

GFs are normally expressed in adult brain, and many of them are upregulated in response to brain ischemia as important regulators of protection and recovery [88]. The components of the NVU and immune cells, release various GFs to build a functional capillary system that supplies oxygen and other nutrients to the tissue, and to promote the viability of neurons, providing a sustained protection under conditions of oxygen deprivation [89, 90]

1.5.1 Vascular endothelial growth factor

The VEGF family comprises five members that mainly binds the tyrosine kinase receptors: VEGFR1-3, in addition to non-tyrosine kinase receptors: neuropilin-1 (NP-1) and -2 (NP-2). The NPs lack intrinsic enzymatic activity and are therefore termed co-receptors for the VEGFs [91]. VEGF-A, the most potent angiogenic factor within the VEGF family, primarily binds to VEGFR1, VEGFR2, NRP-1 and NRP-2 [92]. VEGF-A is in the following referred to as VEGF.

In the brain, several cell types express VEGF, such as endothelial cells, neurons, astrocytes, and microglia [93]. Secreted VEGF regulates angiogenesis in the brain by the combined action of VEGFR1 and VEGFR2, where activation of the latter increases angiogenesis, and activation

of the former decreases it. The main effect of VEGFR1 is to prevent the binding of VEGF to VEGFR2 [91].

Hypoxia is an important stimulus of VEGF expression. A hypoxic or oxygen-deprived cell produces hypoxia inducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α), which under non-hypoxic conditions is rapidly degraded [94]. HIF-1 α upregulate VEGF transcription, but also induces erythropoietin (EPO) [95], which in turn increases the secretion of VEGF. Inflammatory cytokines may also contribute to the regulation [41]. Both hypoxia and inflammation are present during an ischemic stroke, and both VEGF and its receptors VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 are upregulated [96]. As early as 1 hour after stroke, a significant upregulation of VEGF is seen in the ischemic core and in the penumbra, peaking at 24-48 hours after stroke onset [97, 98]. VEGFR2 and VEGFR1 are upregulated around the infarct border on endothelial cells, astrocytes, and neurons by 48 hours after the ischemic stroke [91].

Activation of VEGFR2 activates the MAPK and PI3K/Akt pathways which both promotes angiogenesis. The PI3K/Akt pathway promotes migration of endothelial cells, and the MAPK pathway stimulates the proliferation and migration of endothelial cells [41]. Endothelial migration is supported by pericytes that release several angiogenic factors, including VEGF [91]. Both pathways also lead to an increase in HIF-1 α , and thus a further upregulation of VEGF [99]. In addition, through the PI3K/Akt pathway, endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) is activated. eNOS synthesize nitric oxide, which cause relaxation of the vascular smooth muscle and increase CBF [100]. As a result, new vessels are formed and CBF is increased, enchaining the chance to rescue the penumbra [41].

Increased angiogenesis is an important neuroprotective effect, but VEGF may also have direct neuroprotective effects as VEGFR1, VEGFR2 and NP-1 are present on neurons and glial cells in addition to on the endothelium [101, 102]. One possible underlying mechanism is through the upregulation of HIF-1 α and its downstream signal transduction pathways that promotes self-renewal and inhibits cell apoptosis [103].

As previously described, a part of the angiogenetic effects is to contribute to loosen the endothelial cell connections to allow endothelial sprouting. This effect is largely mediated through the action of VEGF–VEGFR2 and the Src-suppressed C kinase substrate (SSeCKS) pathway, but activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway also plays a role [41]. By these mechanism,

VEGF increase vascular permeability leading to a disrupted BBB function [89]. An increased BBB leakage in the early phase of stroke could further worsen neuronal damage and stroke outcome, in the way previously described. This gives VEGF a dual effect in stroke; in the first phase after acute ischemic stroke, increased VEGF cause cerebral edema and localized inflammation, thus damaging neurons and tissue. After this acute inflammatory phase, however, VEGF leads to multiple protective effects, including the promotion of angiogenesis and neurogenesis, leading to improved functional recovery [104].

The prevailing opinion is that serum VEGF levels in humans increase after stroke compared to healthy controls, as seen in several studies [105-108]. Even so, a meta-analysis of 14 case– control studies showed that serum VEGF levels were not significantly different in ischemic stroke cases as compared with healthy controls, and that serum levels after stroke are time-independent [109]. Whether these conflicting findings reflect differences in the time of sample collection after stroke, differences in the type or severity of the stroke or other factors is not known. When it comes to studies done on VEGF levels and stroke outcome, lower levels have been shown to correlate with poor outcome when measured several days after stroke [105, 108, 110].

1.5.2 Brain derived neurotrophic factor

BDNF belongs to the neurotrophin family, a group of secreted proteins that promote neuronal proliferation, survival and differentiation [8]. It is widely expressed in the adult brain, present in high amounts in axons and neuronal cell bodies, with the highest levels found in hippocampal neurons [111]. BDNF is synthesized as the precursor proBDNF before it is cleaved to mature BDNF protein. Both the syntheses of proBDNF and the formation of mature BDNF from proBDNF are increased in response to neuronal activity. The secretion of BDNF is also activity-induced, and normally triggered by membrane depolarization or by extracellular factors, including BDNF itself [112]. When secreted, a mixture of pro- and mature BDNF is released [111]. ProBDNF preferentially binds p75 neurotrophin receptors (p75^{NTR}) and mature BDNF binds with high affinity to tropomyosin receptor kinase B (TrkB), and with lower affinity to p75^{NTR}. The main effect of mature BDNF is therefore through activation of TrkB. ProBDNF and mature BDNF are associated with opposing effects on cellular function; proBDNF activation of p75^{NTR} can induce apoptosis, while mature BDNF activation of TrkB can promote cell survival [113]. In the adult brain, mature BDNF is the prominent isoform, a tenfold more

abundant that proBDNF [114]. The main focus will therefore be on the effects of mature BDNF, from here on referred to as BDNF.

Like BDNF, TrkB is also widely expressed in the adult human brain [115]. Activation of TrkB leads to activation of downstream signaling pathways such as the MAPK, PLC- γ and PI3K/Akt pathway [116]. Activation of the MAPK pathway leads to an increased expression of genes involved in neuronal and synaptic plasticity, including expression of the BDNF-gene itself [117, 118]. Activation of the PLC- γ pathway generates inositol-1,4,5-triphosphate (IP₃), and diacylglycerol (DAG) which is important for survival, neurite outgrowth and synaptic plasticity [119]. While activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway promotes cell survival, neurite growth and cell proliferation [116].

Neurons are the predominant source of BDNF even in the ischemic brain, but with significant neuronal death also non-neuronal cells such as microglia, astrocytes and endothelial cells will contribute to the secretion of BDNF [120] Animal studies have shown that BDNF is upregulated in the brain following stroke. Increased levels was seen already 4 hours after stroke onset [59, 120], and the increase is reported to be sustained up to 7 days [121]. Secretion of BDNF following stroke have been shown to have multiple protective roles. All the three pathways activated by BDNF-TrkB leads to transcription of pro-survival genes, and thus protect neurons form apoptosis. The MAPK and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways also suppress apoptosis by interacting with apoptosis-regulating proteins [122]. In addition, BDNF plays a central role in neurite outgrowth and neurogenesis [123, 124].

Human studies comparing stroke patients with healthy controls have shown that circulating BDNF are significantly decreased in the stroke objects [125, 126]. Many of these studies have also established that low levels of circulating BDNF in samples taken within 24 hours after stroke onset are associated with poor stroke recovery [9, 125-127].

1.5.3 Basic fibroblast growth factor

Fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) form a large family of signaling proteins. They are potent regulators of cell proliferation and differentiation of a wide range of cells including endothelial cells [128]. The human FGF family bind to and activate a family of high affinity protein tyrosin kinase receptors (FGFRs) 1-4 [129]. One of the most studied FGFs in relation to acute ischemic

neural injury is FGF2, also known as basic FGF (bFGF) [129]. bFGF is widely distributed in the CNS. It is found in neurons and glia, with a predominant localization to astrocytes, where it also is synthesized [130, 131]. It is released as a response to cell death, wounding or other injury [132].

Once released, bFGF binds to its receptors FGFR1 (IIIb), FGFR1 (IIIc), FGFR2 (IIIc) and FGFR4, but it prefer to interact with FGFR1c [133]. In the brain, FGFR1 is expressed in neurons, glia and myelin sheets [134]. Activation of FGFRs by bFGF requires interaction between bFGF and cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPG). HSPG acts as a binding partner and stabilize the FGF-FGFR interaction. Activation triggers the MAPK, PI3K/Akt and PLC-*γ* pathways, where the MAPK and PI3K/Akt pathways are the best understood ones. The MAPK pathway leads to cell growth and differentiation, and the PI3K/Akt pathway is implicated in cell survival and cell fate determination [133].

After an ischemic injury both bFGF and FGFR1 have been shown to be upregulated in the brain, especially in the penumbra. Glial cells are the predominant sources of bFGF [135, 136]. bFGF signaling is involved in neuronal protection and repair [137] and has been shown to promote NSCs growth, survival, and differentiation into mature neurons within the infarct region hence contributing to neurogenesis [138]. bFGF is also a potent inducer of angiogenesis by enhancing mitogenesis of endothelial cells, and indirectly by stimulating secretion of other GFs such as VEGF [139]. In addition, bFGF has been shown to stimulate astrocyte proliferation. This findings suggest that bFGF is an important contributor to the upregulation of astrocytes observed in injured brains, which is beneficial for BBB integrity and neuronal function [140].

Previous studies have found that serum bFGF levels in human stroke patients are significantly higher than those in control groups, and that higher bFGF serum levels are correlated to improved clinical outcome [81, 141, 142].

1.5.4 Epidermal growth factor

The EGF family consist of 12 GFs classified into five groups, where EGF belongs to the group that primarily interact with the EGF receptor (EGFR, also known as ERBB1) [143]. EGFR is a receptor tyrosin kinase, which after ligand binding primarily dimerizes with itself but also with

its homologs ERBB2,-3 and -4 [144]. Dimerization and the subsequent autophosphorylation activate downstream components of signaling pathways including MAPK, PLC- γ , PI3K/Akt, and signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT) pathways [145, 146]. The MAPK pathway stimulate cell proliferation, the PI3K/Akt pathway is important for cell survival, PLC- γ pathway activates MAPK and thus also regulate cell proliferation, while STAT pathway regulate gene transcription of specific target genes [145].

In the CNS, EGF is produced by neurons, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and microglia, and it is also taken up from the peripheral circulation [85, 147]. The same cells express EGFR, but normally at low levels. The NSCs/progenitor cells on the other hand, express EGFR at high densities [148]. EGF contribute to multiple protective effects in the CNS, mainly by stimulating proliferation and differentiation of NSCs into neurons and glia [60], but also by stimulating angiogenesis and reduce apoptosis [144] [146].

After brain injury, EGF stimulates NSCs proliferation, differentiation and migration toward the injured area to replenish the injured neurons and facilitate axon regeneration [148]. In addition is EGFR upregulated in astrocytes, where increased EGF activation stimulates mitosis and thus enhanced astrocyte proliferation, which is important for reestablishing the BBB [58, 149]. Activation of EGFR is also important for astrocyte morphology so the astrocytes can surround neurons and sustain neuronal function [150, 151]. Another contributor to sustained neuronal function is the myelin sheets produced by oligodendrocytes. If demyelinating insult occurs, EGFR signaling will stimulate the production of oligodendrocyte progenitors, and their migration and maturation to myelinating cells [147]. EGF has also been shown to induce angiogenesis via activation of PI3K, MAPK and eNOS [152]. There are very few studies, if any at all, on EGF plasma or serum levels after stroke in humans.

1.6 Physical activity and stroke

The Norwegian Institute of Public Health (NIPH) define PA as "any bodily movement performed by skeletal muscles, which results in a significant increase in energy consumption compared to a resting state" [153]. Exercise is a subset of PA that is planned, structured, and repetitive and is performed with the intention of improving physical fitness [154]. PA is often divided into light, moderate and hard PA, depending on how much energy turnover the activity requires [153].

Physical inactivity is listed as one of the five main risk factors for ischemic stroke [66]. PA could be beneficial in three ways regarding stroke: 1) Pre-stroke PA can prevent stroke incidence and post-stroke PA can prevent recurrent strokes [155], 2) Pre-stroke PA may make the brain better suited to cope with a stroke, reducing adverse effects if stroke should occur [16], 3) Post-stroke PA can promote recovery and neuronal plasticity [156].

Regular PA is known to reduce the risk of both primary and secondary stroke. A meta-analysis of 21 studies (n= 650 000) concluded that high level of PA performed outside working-hours reduced the overall risk of stroke incident by 20-30 %, in both sexes [155]. This preventive effect is mainly thought to be due to positive modifications of risk factors for stroke, such as high blood pressure, obesity, high cholesterol and diabetes [157]. But PA and exercise could also have a direct effect on the cerebral tissue through improved neuronal plasticity and anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory effects [158, 159].

Exercise can be seen as a stress factor resulting in upregulated antioxidant enzyme activity. As long as the stress do not exceed toxic levels, i.e. the pauses between each exercise session in sufficiently long to counteract the stress, trained individuals may have an enhanced endogenous antioxidant capacity compared to inactive people. Theoretically, this may result in an increased ability to handle acute oxidative stress such an acute ischemic stroke [158]. Also an anti-inflammatory effect is observed in response to regular PA, with decreased proliferation of microglia and other immune factors [160]. This could be beneficial for the ischemic brain, but it has not yet been proven.

Regular PA stimulates neural plasticity mechanisms, resulting in for instance angiogenesis and neurogenesis [99, 161]. This applies to both pre- and post-ischemic PA, and may contribute to reduce the infarct volume and neurological deficits following stroke [16, 46, 162]. An important role in promoting exercise-related plasticity is played by GFs, mainly neurotrophins including some of those mentioned above. The underlying mechanism by which GFs are induced in response to exercise, remains to be completely understood. PA-induced release of BDNF for instance has neuroprotective effects and enhances neurogenesis, such as previously described. In addition, BDNF may improve mitochondrial function, thereby reducing oxidative stress after ischemia [163]. Other neurogenetic factors such as bFGF is reported to be upregulated in response to PA as well, but the upregulation may be transient and less robust than that of BDNF [164].

PA-induced increase in VEGF has been reported [165]. One way that exercise can induce cerebral VEGF is through lactate accumulation and activation of the lactate receptor hydroxycarboxylic acid receptor 1 (HCAR1). Activation of HCAR1 leads to enhanced VEGF secretion, possibly through the PI3K/Akt pathway in fibroblasts, causing increased angiogenesis in the brain [99].

Another factor that is released in response to exercise and which affects brain health is irisin. Irisin is a hormone-like myokine that is secreted from muscle cells in response to PA and exercise. It is cleaved and released from its precursor fibronectin type III domain containing protein 5 (FNDC5) [166]. In the brain, irisin is found in neurons, astrocytes and microglia [167], but it is not yet known if irisin is cleaved and released from these cells [168]. However, what is known is that irisin can cross the BBB [169]. Thus, an elevation of peripheral irisin will be mirrored by elevated levels of irisin in the CNS. In response to exercise, the FNDC5 gene expression is increased in skeletal muscle, leading to subsequent increment in circulating irisin [170]. Peripheral overexpression of FNDC5 have been shown to increase BDNF expression in the brain [171], which may explain some of the neuroprotective effects of irisin: irisin inhibits neuronal apoptosis and induces NSC differentiation after cerebral ischemia. Other beneficial effects of irisin are inhibited post-ischemic inflammation, reduced oxidative stress and improved mitochondrial dysfunction [172, 173]. These are effects that can better stroke outcome. In fact, decreased concentrations of irisin are associated with poor functional outcome in ischemic stroke [174]. In addition, PA-induced irisin can prevent obesity and improve glucose homeostasis, thereby lowering key risk factors for stroke [170].

The optimal mode, frequency and duration of exercise for achieving the neuroprotective of PA remain a constant source of debate. A mode of exercise that has received attention lately, is high intensity interval training (HIIT). HIIT is defined as periods with high exertion separated by intervals of recovery either at low-intensity exercise or complete rest [175]. HIIT produces many of the same health benefits as other forms of exercise, but in a shorter amount of time. These benefits include lower body fat, blood sugar, heart rate (HR) and blood pressure [176], all of which represent risk factors for stroke [66]. To what extent HIIT can potentiate neuroprotection remains largely unexplored [175], but HIIT appears to be promising at enhancing neuroplasticity markers such as BDNF, VEGF and irisin [177-179].

HIIT as an exercise mode post-stroke have also shown to better stoke outcome. A report form 2018 analyzing 10 studies done on the effects of post-stroke HIIT, suggested that HIIT might improve functional, cardiovascular, and neuroplastic rehabilitation outcome [180]. In particular PA-induced BDNF was associated with motor recovery improvements [181, 182].

1.7 Determination of cognitive and functional performance after stroke

There have been developed a series of standardized tests to screen for cognitive and functional deficits after stroke. These tests are usually done at or before hospital discharge. The Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) is the most widely applied test to screen for cognitive impairment and dementia after stroke [183]. Other tests to measure cognitive decline are the Trail Making Test A and B (TMTA and B), and the clock drawing test (CDT). To measure functional outcome after stroke the most used tests are the Modified Rankin Scale (mRS) and the Barthel activities of daily living (ADL) index. In addition, the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) is widely used to measure anxiety and depression in stroke patients, as post-stroke depression and -anxiety are commonly seen.

All the tests are measured by a point score, except the TMTs and OCD which are measured in seconds it takes for the subject to complete the task [184, 185]. MMSE comprises thirty items providing information about orientation, attention, learning, calculation, delayed recall, and construction, with a total possible score of 30, indicating normal cognitive function [186]. The mRS is a 6-point assessment that includes reference to both limitations in activity and changes in lifestyle. A grade of 5 is set when severe disability is seen, and a grade of 0 is set when the individual shows no symptoms at all [187]. The Barthel ADL index rate the independency of 10 common ADL activities, with a total score of 20. A higher number indicates a greater ability to function independently following hospital discharge [188]. The HADS is based on self-reported symptoms and consists of 14 questions. The score range from 0 to 42, where 42 indicates the highest level of anxiety and depression [189].

2. Aims of the study

During rehabilitation after an acute stroke, differences in cognitive and motor function recovery is seen in patients even with the same type (size and location) of brain injury presented in the acute phase. To this day, the cause of this variation in recovery is not known, and hence it is difficult to predict recovery. During a stroke, a number of different substances such as GFs,

neurotransmitters, inflammatory mediators etc. can be detected in the blood. A hypothesis is that the combination/balance of these factors can be used to indicate prognosis. Exercise may be protective in stroke by affecting the same GFs.

The aim of the present study is to compare the levels of GFs and irisin in patients with acute stroke and the basal levels found in healthy control persons, as well to investigate whether some of the same alterations are induced by exercise. By screening different factors, we can detect which of them are changed after a stroke, and possibly identify factors that potentially affect the brain during the rehabilitation phase. This may lay the foundation for the identification of biomarkers (or combinations of biomarkers) that can be used to predict progression in cognitive and/or functional performance after stroke. The specific research questions of this master thesis are

Question 1: Which neuroactive factors are secreted from brain to blood during a stroke? **Question 2:** Which neuroactive factors are secreted from brain to blood during high-intensity interval exercise in people >50 years of age?

3. Materials and methods

The following section will describe the chosen methodology, from the exercise regime to the sample collection and analysis. Exercise, cognitive testing and sample collection was performed by Linda Thøring Øverberg (PhD candidate) or employees at the Akershus University hospital (Ahus). The immunoassay of irisin were done in collaboration with Linda Thøring Øverberg.

3.1 Ethics

The project was approved by REK (REK ID 2018/2555) and NSD (NSD ID 539270) and has been registered in the quality assurance system for health and medical research, at UiO, Helseforsk. All permits and cooperation agreements have been obtained.

Informed consent was obtained from the control group before inclusion. The stroke patients had signed informed consent to participation in the biobank. Admission to the samples from the biobank was granted for this project through an agreement with the owner of the Biobank. All data material was processed at group level and is thus unidentifiable when used in

publications and presentations, including this master thesis. The data material was, and still is, kept out of reach of anyone other than the researchers who are affiliated with the project. The work was carried out according to the Helsinki Declaration of 1964.

3.2 Study subjects

The study included 48 patients with ischemic stroke and 48 age- and gender-matched healthy controls.

3.2.1 The stroke patients

The patients included through the biobank consisted of stroke patients (n= 48; 18 males; 30 females) enrolled in the biobank at Ahus (REK ID: 2011-1015). Inclusion criteria were; >50 years of age, ischemic stroke as the main cause for hospitalization and for whom the time between stroke onset and the hospitalization had been noted in the patient journal. Exclusion criteria were; patents with a hemorrhagic stroke and cognitive impairment that prohibited an informed consent to be obtained.

The following information were collected form the patient journal when available by associate professor/MD, PhD Ole Morten Rønning at Ahus; 1) time from symptom onset to admission, 2) size of lesion, 3) Lacunar vs cortical stroke or TIA 4) the scores obtained by the patient on the mRS, MMSE, TMTA and TMTB. Their score on the Barthel ADL index was also included.

3.2.2 The control group

In total, 63 healthy elderly participants were enrolled in this study. Of these, 48 (n= 18 males; 30 females) were matched based on the sex and age with stroke patients from the Biobank group. The inclusion criteria were: elderly (>50 years), healthy (defined by self-reported experience of their own health), cognitive abilities that allow for an informed consent, and able to run/walk on a treadmill for the duration of the test. The exclusion criteria were: participants with previous stroke or a TIA.

3.2.2.1 Investigational test

Prior to the examination, all participants underwent different investigational test with focus on attention and cognitive function, as well as depression and/or anxiety. The first test was the

Norwegian Revised MMSE (MMSE-NR3). The second test was the CDT followed by the Norwegian Revised TMT (TMT-NR3). Finally, a HADS test was conducted after the interval exercise.

3.2.2.2 Measurements and habits

Resting HR and blood pressure were measured, as well as weight and hight to calculate body mass index (BMI). Maximal HR was calculated using a max pulse calculator (HRmax estimate 211-0,64 x age) [190]. All participants answered questions about their exercise habits; type of activity and a rough approximation of number of hours, whether they had a familial predisposition to stroke and/or heart disease, if they were using blood-thinning drugs or whether they were on other prescribed drugs regarding heart and lung conditions, and whether they smoked or used other nicotine stimulants.

3.2.2.3 Training procedure

A HIIT procedure were completed after the cognitive tests were performed. Prior to the session, the subjects were asked to retain from physical activity and caffeine, but this was not always complied to. There was no claim of overnight fast. The training regime consisted of a 10-minute warm-up at 60 % max pulse, followed by 4 x 4-minute intervals on a treadmill either running or walking up hill. Between the intervals there was a period of three minutes of active rest, defined as 70 % of max pulse.

The workload was increased based the participants HR, the perceived exertion using Borg's scale (Figure 2) [191] and the observations made by the observer. The ultimate goal during the intervals was to reach a HR between 80-95 % of their maximum HR.

Level	Percived exerton
6	Rest
7	Extromoly light
8	
9	Very light
10	
11	Light
12	Light
13	Somwhat hard
14	Hard
15	hard
16	Very hard
17	
18	Extremely hard
19	
20	Maximal exertion

Figure 2 Borgs scale. A Norwegian Borg's scale was used in this study but has been translated into English for the purpose of this thesis. The scale was used to rate the perceived exertion at the beginning and the end of each of the four intervals. The scale ranges from 6 to 20, where 6 means "rest" and 20 means "maximal exertion".

3.3 Sample collection

Blood samples were taken of the stroke patients between 12 and 1 pm, the day after admission. The samples were centrifuged, and the plasma was aliquoted and stored at -80°C until further analysis.

Two sets of blood samples were taken from the control group: one small sample of capillary blood from the fingertip (for immediate lactate measurements) and one 6 mL sample of venous blood for analysis of GFs etc. The capillary samples for lactate measurements were taken at four time points; before training, immediately after the second interval and again after the fourth interval, and finally at 30 minutes after the end of the HIIT. The participants washed their hands prior the exercise regime to avoid incorrect measurements. Blood was taken from the side of the fingertips and filled directly into capillary tubes. The capillary tubes were then put in a pre-filled micro test tube with haemolysing solution (glucose / lactate – haemolysing solution 20ul end to end capillaries). The micro test tube was mixed end-over-end 10 times and analysed by the Biosen C - Line Glucose and lactate analyser.

Blood samples for analysis of GFs were collected from one of the veins at the inside of the elbow, at three different times: immediately before the warm-up (baseline), immediately after HIIT and 30 minutes after HIIT. Blood samples taken before warm-up were taken at rest (after

at least 30 min of sitting still). From each subject, a total of three 6 mL whole blood was drawn into tubes containing K2 ethylendiaminetetraacetic (K2EDTA) at each time point. The tubes containing blood samples were gently inverted about 10 times before centrifugated by using the Eppendorf centrifuge 5810 R at 1000 rcfg for five minutes. The supernatant (plasma) was then gently pipetted and immediately aliquoted in 500 μ L pcr tubes. Each tube contained 190-200 μ L plasma, and were marked with date, participant number and blood samples using (1, 2 or 3) before placed in a 30 mL tube for each patient/timepoint. The plasma samples were then frozen and stored at -80 °C degrees.

3.4 ELISA

Plasma levels of the factors were analyzed using a sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) technique, following the instructions of the manufacturers (R&D Systems, MN, USA). ELISA is a type of immunoassay that is commonly used to quantify levels of a specific target within a sample. In sandwich ELISA, two matching antibodies are used to detect the antigen in the sample. These are denoted the capture antibody (CA) and the detection antibody (DA). The two antibodies binds highly selective to different, non-overlapping parts (epitopes) of the antigen molecule [192].

The wells of a 96-well microplate were coated with the CA overnight, washed and then blocked using Reagent Diluent (RD) buffer (Provided as 10X in the kit, and diluted to 1X in milliQ water). The RD buffer contained 1 % bovine serum albumin (BSA) which blocks unspecific binding surfaces, reducing background interference. Sample were then added and incubated for 2 hours, allowing the protein of interest to bind to the CA on the plate, and then washed to remove unbound antigens. A biotin-labeled DA was added; this antibody binds to a separate epitope on the target protein and incubated for two-hours. The plate was then washed before enzyme-conjugated streptavidin was added. Streptavidin interacts strongly with the biotin making the complex detectable. Then the enzyme substrate was added resulting in a color signal that was proportional to the amount of analyte present in the original sample. Color intensity was measured using a plate reader and the concentration was calculated by comparison to a standard curve of known concentrations, which was obtained for each plate [192, 193]. An overview of the sandwich ELIAS method is given in Figure 3.



Figure 3 Sandwich ELISA. 1. A capture antibody (orange) binds to the surface of the well, 2. The analyte (green sphere) then binds to the detection antibody; The percentage of detection antibodies that binds the analyte is proportional to the concentration of the analyte in the sample. 3. A biotin-labeled (red sphere) detection antibody (dark green), then binds to the antigen. 4. Enzyme-conjugated streptavidin (purple rectangle) interact strongly with the biotin. 5. Enzyme substrate (grey sphere) is added and converted into a colored product (blue sphere) 6. Finally, the stop solution is added to terminate the enzyme substrate reaction, turning the color from blue to yellow. The intensity of the yellow signal can be detected in the plate reader as a measure of the concentration of the analyte in the sample (Figure created with BioRender).

3.4.1 Materials and chemicals

All chemicals were supplied by R&D Systems. Table of materials and chemical used are listed in Table 1.

Table 1 Materials and chemicals used in ELISA. A DuoSet Ancillary Reagent Kit and a DuoSet ELISA
for the specific antigens, were used in the study.

Kit	Kit contents	Antigen	Cataloge #
DuoSet Ancillary Reagent Kit			DY008
	96 well microplates		
	Substrate solution		
	Stop solution		
	Plate coating buffer		
	Wash buffer		
	Reagent Diluent Concentrate		
DuoSet ELI	ISA		
	Capture Antibody		
	Detection Antibody		
	Recombinant Standard		
	Streptavidin-HRP		
		VEGF-A: Human VEGF	DY293B
		BDNF: Human/Mouse BDNF	DY248
		FGF2: Human FGF basic/FGF2/bFGF	DY233
		Human EGF	DY236-05
		Human Irisin/FNDC5	DY9420-05
3.4.2 Reconstitution and working diluents

Before analyzing each new factor, the reagents in the DuoSet ELISA-kit had to be reconstituted. The standard and DA were reconstituted in RD, and CA was reconstituted in ELISA plate Coating Buffer which consist of sterile-filtered 1X Phosphate buffered saline (PBS). After reconstitution, the components were to sit for a minimum of 15 minutes with gentle agitation, before they were distributed in Eppendorf tubes and stored at -80 °C degrees according to the lot-specific Certificate of Analysis for storage conditions.

Working dilutions of the reagents were prepared to the concentrations specified in the package insert or on the vial and used immediately after preparation. CA was diluted in ELISA plate Coating Buffer, while DA, Standard and streptavidin conjugated to horseradish-peroxidase (Streptavidin-HRP) were diluted in RD. Concentrated wash buffer and RD was diluted in purified water.

All reagents used in both reconstitution and working dilutions was brought to room temperature before use.

3.4.3 Sample dilution

To find the optimal dilution factor for each specific factor analyzed, plasma samples from a person who was not included in the study were used. The person underwent the same exercise regime as the control group, and blood samples were taken at the same time points and prepared as described for the control group. These plasma samples were diluted with RD to four different concentrations: 1:5, 1:10, 1:20 and 1:100. Before each transfer new pipette tips were used, and the solution was mixed on a vortex mixer. Next, the ELISA assay was performed on the four different dilutions from each of the three samples to find the dilution factor that was within the standard curve. This dilution factor was then further used in the samples from the control subjects and the stroke patients. An illustration of the described serial sample dilution in found in Figure 4.



Figure 4 Serial dilution of plasma samples. Four different concentrations were made: 1:5, 1:10, 1:20 and 1:100. Before each transfer the plasma and/or diluents were mixed on a vortex mixer. Step 1: 100 μ L plasma was added to 400 μ L reagent diluent (RD) to make a 1:5 dilution, Step 2: 250 μ L of the 1:5 dilution was added to 250 μ L RD to make a 1:10 dilution, Step 3: 200 μ L of the 1:10 dilution was added to 200 μ L RD to make a 1:20 dilution, Step 4. 100 μ L of the 1:20 dilution was added to 400 μ L RD to make a 1:100 μ L of the 1:20 dilution was added to 400 μ L RD to make a 1:100 μ L of the 1:20 dilution was added to 400 μ L RD to make a 1:100 μ L of the 1:20 dilution was added to 400 μ L RD to make a 1:100 μ L of the 1:20 dilution was added to 400 μ L RD to make a 1:100 μ L of the 1:20 dilution was added to 400 μ L RD to make a 1:100 μ L of the 1:20 dilution was added to 400 μ L RD to make a 1:100 μ L ND to make a 1:100 μ L

All plasma samples were diluted immediately before applicated to the plate. The day before, RD was added to Eppendorf tubes and stored in the fridge overnight. On the day of analysis, the Eppendorf tubes containing RD were brought to room temperature before plasma was added. The plasma samples were mixed on a vortex mixer before transfer and stored on ice prior to and after transfer so they could be used in later experiments.

3.4.4 Standards

All standards were made according to the manufacturer's protocol. A 7 or 8 point standard curve was made. Eppendorf tubes of 1.5 mL were placed in a rack and numbered S1-S8, where S1was a negative control containing only RD, and S8 was the highest standard concentration. S8 was the undiluted reconstituted standard, and the rest of the standards were made by using 2-fold serial dilutions of this in RD (Figure 5). Before each transfer new pipette tips were used, and the solution was mixed on a vortex mixer.



Figure 5 Example of a serial dilution of the ELISA BDNF-standard. An example of a serial standard dilution from a stock solution to generate a standard curve of 23.4 - 1,500 pg/mL. Before each transfer the finished standards were mixed on a vortex mixer. A negative control (S1) with RD only, was also included (Figure created with BioRender).

3.4.5 Procedure

3.4.5.1 Plate Preparation

1. CA was diluted to the working concentration in ELISA plate Coating Buffer. A 96-well microplate was immediately coated with 100 μ L per well of the diluted CA. The plate was sealed and incubated overnight at room temperature.

2. The next day, each well was aspirated and then washed with Wash Buffer for a total of three washes using Inteliwasher 3D-IW8 Microplate washer (BioSan, Latvia). After the last wash, any remaining Wash Buffer was removed by inverting the plate and blotting it against clean paper towels.

3. RD (300 μ L) was added to each well to block the unspecific binding sites, and then incubated at room temperature for a minimum of 1 hour.

4. The aspiration/wash was repeated as in step 2.

3.4.5.2 Assay Procedure

1. Diluted samples or standards (100 μ L) was added per well and ran in duplicates to provide enough data for statistical validation of the results. To avoid systematic errors, samples from the control group and the stroke patients were ran together (Figure 6). The plate was covered with an adhesive strip and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature.

2. The aspiration/wash was repeated as in step 2. of the Plate Preparation.

3. DA was diluted to the working concentration in RD and 100 μ L of working concentration of DA was added to each well. The plate was covered with a new adhesive strip and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature

4. The aspiration/wash was repeated as in step 2. of the Plate Preparation.

5. Streptavidin-HRP B was diluted to the working concentration specified on the vial label using RD and 100 μ L of this dilution was added to each well. The plate was covered and incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature, protected from direct light.

6. The aspiration/wash was repeated as in step 2. of the Plate Preparation.

7. Substrate Solution (100 μ L) was added to each well. The plate was then incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature, protected from direct light. A blue color started to appear in the wells as the substrate was converted into a blue end product by the streptavidin-HRP enzyme. The intensity of the color was proportional to the amount of HRP in the sample, which in turn was proportional to the concentration of antigen in the original sample.

8. Stop Solution (50 μ L) was added to each well. The blue color turned to yellow. To ensure thorough mixing, the plate was gently tapped until all wells were completely yellow- and not green.

9. The optical density of each well was immediately determined by using Victor X4 Multilabel Plate Reader (Perkin Elmer, USA) at 450 nm.



Figure 6 Example of ELISA plate chart. 100μ L of standards and samples were added to each well in vertical duplicates. Standards were added in ascending order (Std.1-8). The control group and the stroke patients were run together, starting with the sample taken before training (1C1), followed by right after training (1C2), 30 minutes after training (1C3) and sample form matching stroke patient (1SP). The remaining plate was filled with series of eight samples (duplicates of each the three time points for the control person and duplicates of the sample from the corresponding stroke patients) as examplified for paired control person 1 (C1) and the corresponding stroke patient (SP1) (Figure created with BioRender).

3.5 Data analysis

All samples were assayed in duplicate on each plate, in order to test the intra-assay variation. Precision was measured as a coefficient of variation (CV) from the mean value of the two duplicates to expose any human error or uniformities. A CV below 20 % was accepted, but care was taken to keep the CV as low as possible. In most cases it was below 10 %. Duplicates exceeding a CV of 20 % was reanalyzed.

A standard curve was made by using a four parameter logistic (4-PL) curve-fit. The standard curve fit was used to calculate the concentrations from the standards. The concentration read from the standard curve were multiplied by the dilution factor in the diluted samples to find the concentration of antigen in the original plasma sample.

3.6 Statistics

Since the samples obtained at three different time points from each control person were dependent on each other, while the sample obtained from the stroke patient was independent, a standard one-way ANOVA test could not be performed. Instead, the statistical analysis was performed by a series of Student's *t*-tests, paired when samples from the control persons were compared to each other and unpaired when samples from the stroke patients were compared to the basal levels in the controls. To compensate for multiple comparisons, a Bonferroni correction was performed manually by multiplying the p-value form the Student's *t*-test with the number of comparisons. A corrected p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

4. Results

In this section, the results from the analyses conducted using the methodology described in section 3 are presented. Tables, figures and discussions are presented along with the findings for all factors investigated in this thesis; BDNF, bFGF, EGF, irisin and VEGF.

4.1 Background characteristics of the study group

The term "study group" will from here on refer to the matched pairs of one control person and the corresponding stroke patient. Table 2 presents an overview of the 96 subjects in the study group (48 stroke patients and 48 controls). For the control group, blood samples were taken at

three time points (before, right after, and 30 minutes after training). For the stroke patients, one sample was taken the day after admission to the hospital. The time between stroke onset and admission to the hospital varied greatly, from 1 hour to >240 hours. The average age of the subjects studied was 70.2 years, and 62.5 % (30 out of 48 in each group) were female. Of the stroke patients, 32 subjects were categorized with a small stroke, 5 with a medium stroke, 4 with a large stroke, and 7 subjects were categorized with TIA.

Cognitive abilities were tested with MMSE and TMTA and TMTB. For the control group, this was performed prior to the exercise regime. For the stroke patients, these tests were performed between day 3 after admission and the time discharge from the hospital (the patients were normally hospitalized for 4-10 days). The degree of disability or dependence among the stroke patients was measured by mRS, and found to be 1.91±1.37, with a median of 2. The ADL skills of the stroke patients were also tested, using the Barthel ADL index; the average Barthel ADL score was 17.5 (of 20). Of the stroke patients, 13/48 had a score below 20 and of these, 6 were below 10. The control group had a significantly higher MMSE score than the stroke patients (p-value < 0.001; unpaired student's t-test) with a mean of 29.1 (of maximal 30) in the control group vs. 25.5 in the group of stroke patients. Of the stroke patients 13/40 had a MMSE score blow 25, of these 3 had a score below 20. For comparison, none of the control persons had a score below 25. Time spent to complete the TMTA for the control group was 37.1 seconds (average), while the stroke patients used significantly longer times; 60 seconds (p=0.001; unpaired student's t-test). TMTB scores were also significantly higher for the stroke patients with 131 seconds vs. 88 seconds for the control group (p=0.001; unpaired student's t-test). See Table 2 for summary characteristics for the full dataset.

Table 2 Summary characteristics for the full dataset. The study group consisted of 48 stroke patients and 48 age- and gender-matched subjects in the control group. The average age of both groups was 70.2 years. There was an overweight of female subjects (30 out of 48) in both groups. *Stroke patients performed statistically significantly from the control group; p < 0.05.

Description	Control group	Stroke patients
Number of participants (n)	48	48
Age, mean ±SD	70.2 ± 7.7	70.2 ± 7.7
Female, n (%)	30 (62.5 %)	30 (62.5 %)
Exercise regime	4 x 4 min HIIT	-
Stroke size, n (%)	-	S: 32 (67 %); M: 5 (10.4 %)
Small (S); Medium (M); Large		L: 4 (8.3 %); TIA: 7 (14.6 %)
(L); TIA (TIA).		
Time between stroke onset and	-	21.5 hours (1 - >240 hours)
hospitalization, median (min-		
max)		
Number of blood samples from	3; before, immediately after,	1; between 12:00 and 13:00 the
each person; time of blood	and 30 min after exercise	day after admission to hospital
sample(s)		
mRS	-	1.9±1.4; 2 (48)
average \pm SD; median (n)		
MMSE	$29.1 \pm 0.9; 29$ (48)	25.5 ± 4.1; 26.5 (40)*
average \pm SD; median (n) (30=		
maximal score)		
TMTA; average time spent (min)	37.1 ± 14.0; 22.3 (48)	60.0 ± 34.5; 49 (27)*
\pm SD; median (n)		
TMTB; average time spent (min)	88.4 ± 45.9; 77 (48)	131 ± 64.5; 114 (25)*
\pm SD; median (n)		
Barthel ADL; average ± SD;	-	17.5 ± 4.9; 20 (48)
median (n) (20= self-sufficient)		

We also measured the blood lactate in the control group at four different stages: before exercise, after two intervals, after four intervals and 30 minutes after training. The lactate level before exercise had a mean of 1.52 ± 0.08 mmol/L. After 2 intervals the mean was significantly higher (5.1 ± 0.37) than the baseline level (p= $1.08x \times 10^{-14}$; paired student's t-test). After 4 intervals, the lactate level was even higher (7.2 ± 0.4) than after two intervals (p=0.0003; paired student's t-test). 30 minutes after exercise, the lactate level was significantly lower than after exercise



(2.5±0.2), both after 2 and 4 intervals (p=2.1 x 10^{-8} , p=1.9 x 10^{-17} ; paired student's t-test). See Figure 7.

Figure 7 Mean concentration of blood lactate level. The figure illustrates the development in lactate level (mmol/L) with corresponding standard error measures at four different stages; before exercise, after 2 intervals, after 4 intervals and 30 minutes after training. The increase after 2 and 4 intervals was significant compared to the baseline level. 30 minutes after exercise, the lactate level was significantly lower than right after exercise.

4.2 Growth factor levels in plasma

When looking at the distribution for each factor for the control group, there was one clear outlier across all analyses (indicated by the red dotted box in Figure 8), who had plasma levels of most GFs that was several folds above the rest of the control group. For the purposes of the statistical testing, it was chosen to exclude the outlier, as the subject was not representative and would disturb the results. To keep the age- and gender of the stroke patients and the controls equal, we also removed the stroke patient who was matched with this control person, reducing the number of observations in both groups in this section (4.2) from 48 to 47. The exception is when looking at stroke sizes, as this are a separate measure which only applies for the stroke patients. Here the number of observations will still be 48.

The data was somewhat right skewed, but the normality assumption was considered to hold for the statistical testing. Since we had 47 observations left after removal of the outlying subject,

the sample size was considered large enough not to normalize the dataset further or deploy nonparametric tests on the data.



Figure 8 Concentration distributions for growth factors and irisin. The figures illustrate the distribution of concentrations for BDNF, bFGF, EGF and irisin in the control group before training, right after training, 30 minutes after training and in the group of stroke patients. Please note the outlier (indicated by the red dotted box); this participant was excluded from the analysis.

In the following sections, a consistent approach to data presentation is used. First, the mean concentrations for the full dataset are presented. Then, the study group is further segregated by sex, and by different age groups. Finally, the impact of stroke size is explored. Since the three samples obtained from the control group (before training (hereafter referred to as "baseline"), right after training, 30 minutes after training) are from the same persons, these measurements

are related. The samples from the stroke patients, although matched with the control persons, are independent. Hence, a paired student's t-test was used to examine the relationship within the control group (before training, right after training, 30 minutes after training). When testing the control group against the stroke patients, we deployed an unpaired student's t-test. Both tests were two-tailed and subjected to Bonferroni corrections when the results showed significance (p-values below 0.05 multiplied with the number of comparisons).

4.3 BDNF

4.3.1 Full dataset BDNF

The BDNF concentrations had a large variation, with the minimum concentration before training at 5,231 pg/mL and the maximum 35,057 pg/mL. Still, as displayed in Figure 9, most of the data points were distributed around the mean values. Table 3 present summary statistics for the full BDNF dataset.

Table 3 Summary statistics for BDNF dataset. The concentration of mean plasma BDNF measured in the control group at three time points (before, right after, and 30 minutes after the end of the exercise) is shown along with the concentration of BDNF in plasma from the stroke patients The table also show the median BDNF and the lowest (Min) and highest (Max) observed concentration value, SEM = Standard error of the mean.

	Defeue tusining	Right after	30 min after	Stroke
	Before training	training	training	patients
Mean	16,702	18,393	15,921	6,690
Median	15,398	17,142	14,367	5,375
Min	5,231	5,178	5,365	1,428
Max	35,057	46,904	32,295	29,613
SEM	1,038	1,375	1,065	709

In the control group, the BDNF concentration before training was $16,702\pm1,038$ pg/mL (mean±SEM). No difference was observed in BDNF levels in response to exercise: BDNF levels measured after exercise were $18,393\pm1,376$ pg/mL and $15,921\pm1,065$ pg/mL immediately after and 30 minutes after training, respectively. There was no clear pattern in the mean of BDNF concentration before and after training (p=0.11 and p=0.28; paired student's t-test). However, the mean concentration was significantly lower in the stroke patients, where

BDNF was measured to $6,690\pm710$ pg/mL compared to the baseline levels in the control group (p= 2.6×10^{-11} ; unpaired student's t-test; Bonferroni corrected). The mean concentration±SEM for each timepoint/group are displayed in Figure 9.



Figure 9 Mean concentration of BDNF. The mean concentration of BDNF levels is displayed in this figure for each of the different timepoints: before training, right after training, 30 minutes after training and in the stroke patients. The concentration of BDNF (pg/mL) was significantly lower in the stroke patients than in the control persons before training, but did not change significantly within the control group in response to exercise. ***p<0.001.

4.3.2 Effects of gender on the levels of BDNF

When the study group was divided based on gender (each group consisted of 30 females and 17 males), we found that the pattern was similar for females and males (Figure 10). The males had a slightly lower baseline level of BDNF than the females $(17,900\pm1,378 \text{ in female vs.} 14,590\pm1,383 \text{ in males})$, but this did not reach statistical significance (p=0.11; unpaired student's t-test). The BDNF levels right after exercise reached statistical significance in the males (p=0.05; paired student's t-test; Bonferroni corrected) but not in the females (p=0.35; paired student's t-test). The observed mean BDNF concentration was lower in the stroke patients than at baseline for both genders (p <0.001; unpaired student's t-test; Bonferroni corrected).



Figure 10 Mean concentration BDNF per gender. The mean concentration of BDNF is displayed in this figure for each of the timepoints: before training, right after training, 30 minutes after training and in stroke patients. The concentration of BDNF (pg/mL) was clearly lower in the stroke patients of both genders compared to the baseline levels (before training) in the respective gender. There was no clear pattern in the measurements before training. ***p<0.001.

4.3.3 Effects of age on the levels of BDNF

To test whether there were any differences in the results based on age, the subjects were categorised into four age groups: 1) Below 65 years old (n=11), 2) between 65 and 69 years old (n=10), 3) between 70 and 75 years old (n=14) and 4) above 75 years old (n=12). The results obtained in the different age groups did not differ from each other, or from the general trend reported in Figure 8. In all four age groups, the levels of BDNF were lower in the stroke patients compared to baseline levels in the control groups (Figure 11). For the age group > 65 p=0.04, 65-69 p= 0.02, 70-75 p=7.4 x 10^{-5} , >75 p= 0.001 (unpaired student's *t*-test; Bonferroni corrected).



Figure 11 Mean concentration BDNF for the different age groups. The figure display an overview of the chosen age groups analysed in this section. The subjects were divided into four groups based on age and analysed separately. Numbers of observations (n) across the groups were quite similar. *Statistically significant difference from baseline level with a p-value < 0.05 (Bonferroni corrected), ***p<0.001.

4.3.4 Effects of stroke size on the levels of BDNF

We then went on to determine if the difference in BDNF concentrations in the stroke patients was dependent on the stroke size. The strokes were classified based on the information provided in the patient journal into either small, medium or large strokes or TIA. Of the 47 patients, 32 had a small lesion, 5 had a medium lesion, 4 had a large lesion and 7 were classified as TIA. Figure 12 illustrate the mean BDNF concentration and SEM for the different stroke sizes. There was no statistical significance when testing the difference between small stroke and medium stroke (p=0.07; unpaired student's t-test), small and large stroke (p=0.23; unpaired student's t-test) or small stroke and TIA (p=0.20; unpaired student's t-test).



Figure 12 Mean concentration of BDNF in stroke patients with different stroke sizes. The mean concentration of BDNF (pg/mL) after stroke are displayed in this figure, divided based on the stroke size. The concentration of BDNF was marginally higher in patients with small lesion sizes compared to in patients with medium stroke sizes (p=0.07), but there was no difference in BDNF levels between patients with small and large lesions, between patients with small and medium lesions sizes or between patients with TIA and small lesions.

4.4 bFGF

4.4.1 Full dataset bFGF

The summary statistics for the full bFGF dataset, including mean and median levels along with the lowest (Min) and highest (Max) measured levels at each time point (before, immediately after and 30 minutes after exercise) in the control group and levels in the stroke patients, are presented in Table 4, along with the corresponding SEM values.

Table 4 Summary statistics for bFGF dataset. The concentration of plasma bFGF (mean) measured in the control group at three time points (before, right after, and 30 minutes after the end of the exercise) is shown along with the concentration of bFGF in plasma from the stroke patients. The table also show the median bFGF and the, lowest (Min) and highest (Max) observed concentration value, SEM = Standard error of the mean

	Before training	Right after	30 min after	Stroke
		training	training	patients
Mean	683	685	673	588
Median	668	685	668	558
Min	413	397	383	315
Max	1,092	1,070	1,067	1,417
SEM	26	25	24	30

When plotting the mean concentration for the subjects before training, right after training, 30 minutes after training and in stroke patients, there was not a clear pattern in the data: The concentration of bFGF (pg/mL) was significantly lower in the stroke patients (588 ± 30 pg/mL) than in the control persons at baseline (683 ± 26 pg/mL) when only doing an unpaired Student's t-test (p-value= 0.027), but with Bonferroni correction the result was no longer significant (p-value= 0.107). bFGF levels did not change in response to training in the control group for the comparison between bFGF right after training and 30 minutes after training with the baseline level of bFGF in the same patients (p=0.81 and p=0.25; paired student's t-test). See Figure 13.



Figure 13 Mean concentration of bFGF. The mean concentrations of bFGF are displayed in this figure for each of the measured stages: before training, right after training, 30 minutes after training and in stroke patients. There was a tendency towards a lower concentration of bFGF (pg/mL) in the stroke patients compared to the baseline level of bFGF in the control group, but this was not statistically significant after Bonferroni correction. Exercise did not affect the bFGF concentrations.

4.4.2 Effects of gender on the levels of bFGF

When the study group was divided based on gender (each group consisted of 30 females and 17 males), we found that the pattern was quite similar for females and males (Figure 14). The males had a slightly higher baseline level of bFGF than the females (653 ± 35 pg/mL in female vs. 736±31 pg/mL in males), but this did not reach statistical significance (p= 0.14; unpaired student's t-test). The bFGF levels after exercise did not reach statistical significance in the males (p= 0.44; paired student's t-test) or in the females (p= 0.82; paired student's t-test). The observed mean bFGF concentration was lower in the stroke patients than at baseline for males (p=0.03), however not significantly after Bonferroni correction (p= 0.12; unpaired student's t-test). For females the difference in the observed concentration for stroke patients to the baseline did not reach statistical significance (p= 0.21; unpaired student's t-test).



Figure 14 Mean concentration of bFGF per gender. The mean concentrations of bFGF are displayed in this figure for each of the timepoints: before training, right after training, 30 minutes after training and in stroke patients. For the males, the observed concentration of bFGF (pg/mL) was slightly lower in the stroke patients compared to the baseline levels of the control group (not significant after Bonferroni correction), while this was not seen in the females. There was no effect on bFGF levels in response to training.

4.4.3 Effects of age on the levels of bFGF

To test whether there were any differences in the results based on age, the subjects were categorized into the age groups described under section 4.3.3.

The results obtained in the different age groups did not differ from each other and did not deviate from the trend in Figure 15. In all four age groups, the levels of bFGF tended to be

lower in the stroke patients compared to baseline levels in the control groups, however this did not reach statistical significance for any of the age groups (<65 p=0.48, 65-79 p=0.28, 70-75 p=0.40, >75 p=0.06; unpaired student's t-test).



Figure 15 Mean concentration of bFGF for the different age groups. The figure display an overview of the chosen age groups analysed in this section. The subjects were divided into four groups based on age and analysed separately. Numbers of observations (n) across the groups were quite similar. There were no significant differences from the baseline level of bFGF.

4.4.4 Effects of stroke size on the levels of bFGF

To determine if the difference in bFGF concentrations in the stroke patients was dependent on the stroke size, a separate analysis was performed on the 32 patients who had a small lesion, the 5 who had a medium lesion, the 4 patients who had a large lesion and the 7 patients who were classified as having a TIA. Figure 16 illustrate the mean bFGF concentration for the different stroke sizes. There was no statistical significance when testing the difference between small stroke and medium stroke (p=0.55; unpaired student's t-test), small and large stroke (p=0.89; unpaired student's t-test), small stroke and TIA (p=0.12; unpaired student's t-test).



Figure 16 Mean concentration of bFGF depending on the stroke size. The mean concentration of bFGF after strokeare displayed in this figure, based on the stroke size. Although the figure may give the impression that bFGF levels increase with the severity of the stroke (from TIA to small to medium lesion sizes), this did not reach statistical significance.

4.5 EGF

4.5.1 Full dataset EGF

The FGF concentrations had a large variation between the individuals. For instance, the FGF baseline levels varied almost 7-fold with the minimum concentration before training at 540 pg/mL and the maximum 3,766 pg/mL (Table 5). In stroke patients, plasma EGF varied between 16 pg/mL and 2,427 pg/mL, a 151-fold difference.

Table 5 Summary statistics for the EGF dataset. The concentration of plasma EGF (mean) measured in the control group at three time points (before, right after, and 30 minutes after the end of the exercise) is shown along with the concentration of EGF in plasma from the stroke patients. The table also show the median EGF and the, lowest (Min) and highest (Max) observed concentration value, SEM = Standard error of the mean.

	Before training	Right after	30 min after	Stroke
		training	training	patients
Mean	1,080	1,235	1046	184
Median	913	1086	862	67
Min	540	566	479	16
Max	3,766	3,011	3,014	2,427
SEM	89	78	78	59

In the control group, the EGF concentration before training was $1,080\pm89$ pg/mL (mean±SEM). In response to exercise, the EGF levels increased to $1,236\pm79$ pg/mL immediately after exercise (p=0.05; paired student's t-test; Bonferroni corrected). 30 minutes after exercise, there was no statistical difference to the baseline levels (p=0.45; paired student's t-test). The EGF concentration was almost 6 times lower in the stroke patients, where EGF was measured to 184 ± 60 pg/mL, compared to the baseline levels, (p= 3.0×10^{-12} ; unpaired student's t-test; Bonferroni corrected). The mean concentration±SEM is displayed in Figure 17.



Figure 17 Mean concentration of EGF. The mean concentration of EGF are displayed in this figure for each of the different time points for the control group: before training, right after training, 30 minutes after training and for the stroke patients. The concentration of EGF (pg/mL) in the stroke patients was clearly lower than in the control group. The concentration also increased right after training, before decreasing 30 minutes after training. *p<0.05; ***p<0.001 (Bonferroni corrected).

4.5.2 Effects of gender on the levels of EGF

In this section, differences in EGF means across the female and male subjects were investigated. Figure 18 illustrate the mean concentration before training, right after training, 30 minutes after training and in stroke patients, for both females and males separately.

When the study group was divided based on gender (each group consisted of 30 females and 17 males), we found that the pattern was similar for females and males (Figure 18). The males had a slightly lower baseline level of BDNF than the females $(1,133\pm101 \text{ in female vs. } 942\pm50 \text{ in males})$, but this did not reach statistical significance (p=0.35; unpaired student's t-test). The EGF levels after exercise were elevated compared to the baseline in the males (p=0.04; paired student's t-test; Bonferroni corrected). Although the same tendency was observed in the females, this did not reach statistical significance (p=0.07; paired student's t-test). The observed

mean EGF concentration was significantly lower in the stroke patients than at baseline for both genders (p<0.001; unpaired student's t-test; Bonferroni corrected).



Figure 18 Mean concentration of EGF per gender. The mean concentration of EGF are displayed in this figure for each of the different time points: before training, right after training, 30 minutes after training for the control persons, as well as for the stroke patients. The concentration of EGF (pg/mL) was significantly lower in the stroke patients for both genders compared to the baseline levels. Although EGF tended to increase after training in both genders, this was statistically significant only in the males. *p<0.05; ***p<0.001 (Bonferroni corrected).

4.5.3 Effects of age on the levels of EGF

To test whether there were any differences in the results based on age, the subjects were categorized into the age groups described under section 4.3.3.

The results obtained in the different age groups did not differ from each other and did not deviate from the trend in Figure 19. In three out of four age groups, the levels of EGF were lower in the stroke patients compared to baseline levels in the control groups (p<0.001 for all comparisons; unpaired student's t-test; Bonferroni corrected). For the age group below 65 years old, the difference in EGF levels in the stroke patients compared to the baseline before training reached statistical significance before the Bonferroni correction, but not after (p=0.07; unpaired student's t-test; Bonferroni corrected).



Figure 19 Mean concentration EGF for age groups. The figure display an overview of the chosen age groups analysed in this section. The subjects were divided into four groups based on age and analysed separately. Numbers of observations (n) across the groups were quite similar. ***statistically significant difference from baseline level, p < 0.001 (Bonferroni corrected).

4.5.4 Effects of stroke size on the levels of EGF

We then went on to determine if the difference in EGF concentrations in the stroke patients was dependent on the stroke size. Figure 20 illustrate the mean EGF concentration for the different stroke sizes. Although a string tendency was observed towards reduced EGF levels in the patients with medium stroke size (n=5) compared to those with small lesions (n=32), there was no statistical significance between these groups (p=0.06; unpaired student's t-test). These same was true for the comparison between small and large stroke (n=4; p=0.63; unpaired student's t-test). When comparing small stroke to TIA, the p-value were significant before Bonferroni (p=0.04; unpaired student's t-test), but not with Bonferroni correction (p=0.16: unpaired student's t-test; Bonferroni corrected).



Figure 20 Mean concentration of EGF divided based on the stroke size. The mean concentrations of EGF after stroke are displayed in this figure, based on the stroke size. The concentration of EGF (pg/mL) did not show a clear pattern based on the stroke size, and the differences between small lesions and TIA, medium and large did not reach statistical significance.

4.6 Irisin

4.6.1 Full dataset

Table 6 present summary statistics for the full irisin dataset. Mean and median values are given along with the lowest (Min) and highest (Max) concentrations measured and the corresponding SEM for each time point (before, immediately after and 30 minutes after exercise) for the control group, as well as for the stroke patients.

Table 6 Summary statistics for irisin dataset. The concentration of plasma irisin (Mean) measured in the control group at three time points (before, right after, and 30 minutes after the end of the exercise) is shown along with the concentration of irisin in plasma from the stroke patients The table also show the median irisin and the smallest (Min) and largest (Max) observed concentration value, SEM = Standard error of the mean.

	Before training	Right after	30 min after	Stroke
		training	training	patients
Mean	5,269	5,194	5,250	6,742
Median	4,470	4,342	4,526	4,100
Min	1,854	1,197	659	0
Max	18,473	21,746	18,205	50,899
SE	425	499	446	1,475

In the control group, the irisin concentration before training was 5269 ± 425 pg/mL (mean±SEM). No difference was observed in irisin levels in response to exercise: irisin levels measured immediately after exercise was $5,194\pm499$ pg/mL and 30 minutes after exercise $5,250\pm446$ pg/mL (p=0.67, and p=0.91 for the two comparisons, respectively; paired student's t-test). The irisin concentration was higher in the stroke patients, where irisin was measured to $6,742\pm1,475$ pg/mL. However, this difference did not reach statistical significance (p=0.35; unpaired student's t-test). The mean concentrations with corresponding SEM is displayed in Figure 21.



Figure 21 Mean concentration of irisin. The mean concentration of irisin are displayed in this figure for each of the different time points for the control persons: before training, right after training, 30 minutes after training as well as in the stroke patients. The concentration of irisin (pg/mL) appeared higher in the stroke patients compared to baseline, but this was not statistically significant.

When we segregated the irisin data further into gender and age, all results were still highly insignificant. We therefor do not include further analyses in this section for irisin.

4.7 VEGF

Optimization: It was decided to dilute the samples a 5-fold when measuring VEGF, as this dilution factor fell within the linear area of the standard curve when tested a test-person who was not included in the study. A graph of the standard curve for VEGF is given in Figure 22.



Figure 22 VEGF Standard curve. Victor X4 Multilabel Plate Reader (Perkin Elmer, USA) was used to generate a four-parameter logistic (4-PL) curve-fit for the standards. The VEGF standards had the following concentrations: 2,000 pg/mL (highest), 1,000 pg/mL, 500 pg/mL, 250 pg/mL, 125 pg/mL, 62.5 pg/mL, 31.25 pg/mL (lowest) and a negative control containing only reagent diluent (0 pg/mL).

With this dilution factor, 19 of 40 samples were below the standard curve, while one was above the standard curve with a concentration of 2,902.85 pg/mL. The rest of the samples were distributed over the lower parts of the curve, with concentrations between 309.9 pg/mL and 1.70 pg/mL. Since all except one were so low on the standard curve, it was decided to try a 2-fold dilution.

When trying a 2-fold dilution on 40 new samples, 22 of 40 samples were below the standard curve. The remaining samples had a concentration in the lower parts of the curve, with concentrations between 9.6 pg/mL and 354 pg/mL. Even if it was not specified for this ELISA-kit, the manufacturer (R&D Systems) often recommend to dilute the samples 2-5 fold in sample dilution buffer when using complex matrices such as plasma. The dilution buffer contains components that block unspecific binding sites and, hence, an undiluted sample may be encumbered with a higher unspecific signal. In addition, undiluted plasma would require a bigger sample volume, which in our case was limited. Due to this, it was decided not to precede with experiments on VEGF.

5. Discussion

5.1 Methodological considerations

5.1.1 Sandwich ELISA as immunoassay

In this thesis, the presented levels of different GF and irisin were measured by using sandwich ELISA. Sandwich ELISA is a well validated immunoassay for the detection of high molecularweight antigens. The advantages of ELISA in general, compared to other immune assays, are the use of surface bound reactants, making it easy to get rid of unbound materials that could other ways result in un-specific binding. The advantage of sandwich ELISA compared to other ELISAs, is the use of two antibodies recognizing different non-overlapping epitopes of the protein of interest, increasing the overall selectivity.

The ELISA method is based on the use of antibodies to detect the antigen of interest. The quality of the result, therefore, is highly dependent of the quality of the antibodies used. Antibody quality depends on several factors, including the specificity/selectivity (the ability of the antibody to bind the epitope of interest without binding other epitopes; this includes low-affinity binding to several epitopes as well as high-affinity selective cross-reactivity to an on, or a small number of, epitope(s) that resembles the epitope of interest). Specificity is defined as 100 % selectivity, which is only possible in theory. Therefore, in this discussion, the term "selectivity" is used when talking about a graded ability to bind one epitope over others. The term specificity and selectivity are used interchangeable when referring to the concept in general. Another important factor is the affinity, which refers to the strength of the binding between the antibody and the antigen. The affinity and the specificity both affect the sensitivity (the ability to detect true positives), which in turn decides the lower concentration of antigen that can be detected with a high enough degree of certainty (the lower detection limit). The upper detection limit is dependent in the specificity of the antibody as well as the number of binding sites available (as these may be saturated at higher concentration of the antigen). The antibodies used in the present study were all purchased as part of validated ELISA kits from R&D Systems. These are immunoglobulin (Ig)-Gs, which are the most commonly used Igs for immunohistochemistry and immunoassays. The properties of the antibodies (Abs) largely depend on whether they are monoclonal (mAbs) or polyclonal (pAbs). mAbs only bind one single epitope on the antigen, resulting in a lower sensitivity and a somewhat higher selectivity compared to pAbs that contain a heterologous mixture of IgGs against different epitopes on the antigen. pAbs are also more tolerant to structural changes of the epitope such as denaturation [194]. In our study, the samples were kept at -80°C until immediately before analysis and were kept on ice though the whole procedure. Repeated freeze-though cycles were kept at a minimum (max 3-4 times per sample). Hence, denaturation of the proteins of interest is believed to have a low impact on the data. Denaturation may represent a larger source of uncertainty when tissue samples are exposed to cross-linking fixation and/or detergents. mAbs, are often more selective than pAbs as they are less likely to bind unspecifically to multiple epitopes [194]. Sandwich ELISA often utilize the beneficial attributes of both pAbs and mAbs by using them together. Often pAbs are used as capture antibodies, to take advantage of their higher overall affinity and hence the high sensitivity. mAbs are often used as detection antibodies to enhance the selectivity of the detection. However, in the case of the ELISA kits used in this thesis, the manufacturer did not provide this information about the antibodies, making it difficult to assess the degree to which this may have affected the results. There is also a slight chance for cross-reactivity between the two antibodies. By using antibody pair combined in a kit, such as the DuoSets used in this study, the matched antibodies are optimized by the manufacturer, reducing the likelihood for such cross-reactivity. Furthermore, the kits used in the present study were validated for plasma samples, which was also the medium used in the present study. Using validated kits for other biological samples than what they are meant for, increases the probability for cross-reactivity; different biological material may contain different proteins, some of which may have epitopes that resembles the epitope of interest and hence may produce cross-reactivity. The DuoSets used are well validated, and much used. All antibody pairs have been assayed for crossreactivity and interference by the manufacturer. Formulation of the diluents, the concentrations of the antibodies and general assay condition may also affect the specificity and sensitivity. To optimize this, we used the recommended DuoSet Ancillary Reagent Kit 2 for all additional reagents.

One example of specific cross-reactivity that is worth mentioning, is the possible detection of both proBNDF and mature BDNF with the BDNF antibodies. As previously described, proand mature BDNF have opposite effects in the brain and are released in concert from the same BDNF secreting cells. As epitopes used in the Human/Mouse BDNF DuoSet ELISA-kit are not unique for mature-BDNF, there is a chance for antibody binding to proBDNF as well. Information about the affinity for mature BDNF compared to for proBDNF was not available for the kit used in the present study. This may give false positive results and must be taken into account when interoperating the results. The ration between mature BDNF and proBDNF, however, is normally quite high. Therefore, BDNF detected in this study can be expected to mostly represent mature BDNF.

The point of concern when working with sandwich ELISA is the many steps involving pipetting of small volumes. Precise volume transfers in each step is critical for accurate and reproduceable results. In the present study, care was taken to keep the accuracy and reproducibility as high as possible in each step, but during the assay there are limited options for verifying this. The only way to measure precision is by applying each sample in duplicates and then calculate the CV. This is not done before the assay is completed, making it impossible to know in which step a possible error could have occurred. Once a deviant CV-value is exposed, one cannot know for sure whether this is due to human errors, the reagents used or due to technical issues. To avoid introducing systematic errors due to the steps prior to application to the ELISA plate, all samples and standards were mixed thoroughly immediately before use and all analysis were performed by the same operator and as standardized as possible. Nevertheless, there will always be some uncertainty in the final results. Samples from all groups were run on the same plates, reducing the likelihood that systematic errors would affect one group specifically. Hence, the uncertainties mentioned above may have introduced variation in our analysis but likely did it not alter the overall results.

5.1.2 Plasma as a medium

Since we are mainly looking for the effects of GFs on the brain, the most ideal medium for analysis would be cerebrospinal fluid (CFS) as CFS is in direct contact with the CNS and thus gives a more direct reflection of the milieu of the CNS. To obtain CSF, spinal puncture is needed, and this is not done unless specifically required in the treatment and/or diagnosis of the patient. The procedure is painful and involves a certain risk, and therefore collection of CFS for this project was not considered ethically acceptable. Instead, it was decided to use plasma. The GFs and irisin analyzed in this study are all known to pass the BBB, and therefore changes in their concentration within the CNS may be reflected in the blood.

It was decided to use plasma over serum. Plasma is easier and less time consuming to separate, as the blood need to cloth in order to make serum. In addition, the percentage volume of plasma is higher in comparison to serum, leaving more volume available for the assay. One disadvantage of using plasma is the content of anticoagulant. Especially when measuring BDNF, as K2EDTA (which was used as an anticoagulant in our samples) can activate platelets

which store BDNF and can secrete it upon degranulation [195]. The major problem with this is that the BDNF released from platelets *in vitro* may mask differences in BDNF released from the brain in response to exercise and/or stroke. Furthermore, the release of BDNF from platelets can be influenced by age, specific disease conditions, or pharmacological treatments [196], which gives a heterogenous influence on the measured levels. Serum have thus shown to be more suitable when measuring of BDNF. Even so, plasma as the often the chosen medium for measuring BDNF is widely used for this purpose.

Another disadvantage of use of plasma is lower concentrations. For instance, serum have shown significantly higher values of VEGF compared to what is found in plasma [197]. As much as 6-fold higher values of VEGF in serum compared to plasma have been reported [198]. By use of serum instead of plasma, we might have gotten higher concentrations of VEGF, reaching above the lower detection limit. But this remains speculative. Importantly, all our samples were treated identically, and hence the choice of plasma over serum or CSF is not likely to underlie the differences in concentrations detected between the stroke patients and the control group.

5.1.3 The control group and the measurement of exercise intensity

To monitor the exercise intensity during HIIT, HR and Borg's scale were used, in addition to measuring blood lactate at four time points (before training, immediately after the second and the fourth interval, and 30 minutes after the end of the HIIT).

Even if direct measurement of maximal oxygen uptake (VO₂max) is the optimal method of assessing cardiorespiratory fitness and maximal capacity, the use of Borg's scale have proven to be a valid tool for monitoring and prescribing exercise intensity and achieve an accurate prediction of O₂max [199, 200]. In addition to perceived exertion, the workload was based on the subjects HR and observations made by the observer, to make sure a high intensity was obtained throughout all four intervals. All participants increased their blood lactate in response to the exercise (Figure 7), demonstrating that exercise was above the anaerobic threshold.

All subjects in the control group voluntary enrolled the study, well knowing that the study would involve an exercise session at high intensity. Most of the subjects were even recruited from a gym class. These subjects, hence, do not necessarily reflect the average elderly population, and especially not the average stroke patient. Stroke patients often present a combination of risk factors such as overweight, type 2 diabetes, high blood pressure etc, most

of which can be reduced by regular exercise. Recruiting among a physically active group of elderly resulted in a control group where most of the participants probably lack the main risk factors of stroke. The two different groups in this study (control group and stroke patients) may not be comparable for these reasons, which can be criticized. However, this study depended on the control persons to be competent to consent to participation, and to be able to train with high intensity. The upside by using a healthy control group without any known brain-diseases, is that they are representative for a basal level of the different factors in a healthy elderly brain. Hence, the basal level will not be disrupted by external factors; only a very few in the control group used medications or nicotine on a regular basis.

5.1.4 Statistics

The statistical analysis was performed by a series of Student's *t*-tests: paired when samples from the control persons were compared to each other and unpaired when samples from the stroke patients were compared to the basal levels in the controls. We used a Bonferroni correction to compensate for the multiple comparisons by manually multiplying the p-value from the Student's *t*-test with the number of comparisons. This correction was performed to counteract the chance of observing rare events, which increase with multiple comparisons. This is a strict approach which reduce the chance of a type 1 error (false positive), but it could on the other hand lead to more type 2 errors (excepting a false negative). In fact, some of our findings within the control group were statistically different when compared with the student's *t*-test alone, but not when subjected to the Bonferroni correction. In this thesis, such findings have been presented as "tendencies", and both the corrected and the uncorrected p-value have been shown to allow the reader to judge these data themselves. When differences between the stroke patients and the control group were found, however, these were generally large (see BDNF and EGF), reaching statistical significance even after being Bonferroni corrected.

5.2 Discussion of study results

5.2.1 Did stroke affect the outcome on cognitive tests?

Our study revealed significant differences in cognitive performance when comparing the stroke patients with a healthy age- and gender-matched control group. In the MMSE, the stroke patients showed a significantly lower score than the control group (p<0.001). In both TMTs the stroke patients used a significantly longer time to finish (p=0.001 and p=0.001 for TMTA and

TMTB, respectively). Even so, it is noteworthy that the mean MMSE score for the stroke patients were above 25, which is an indicator for normal cognition. When looking at the scores separately, none in the control group obtained a score lower than 25, while 13 of 40 stroke patients did. Of these 13, a score below 20 was reported for 3 subjects. Scores below 25 indicate mild dementia, and scores below 20 indicate moderate dementia [186].

Although there was not performed an official Barthel ADL test on the control group, it is conceivable that these subjects would have had a high score (probably around the maximal score for all participants) indicating low dependency in daily activities. The average Barthel ADL score for the stroke patients was 17.5 of 20 possible points. Of the stroke patients 7 of 48 had a score below 20 indicating moderate dependency, and 6 of 48 had a score below 10 indicating severe dependency [188].

Stroke is known to be a major contributor to both physical and cognitive decline [3-5]. Based on our results, we cannot conclude whether the differences seen in cognitive abilities between the stroke patients and the control group were caused by the stroke *per se*, since the control group and the stroke patients are two separate groups of subjects. It is unknown if the cognitive declines seen in some of the stroke patients are due to stroke or other factors present prior to the stroke. Also, it is not known whether the low cognitive level of some of the stroke patients is temporary and will improve during rehabilitation.

5.2.2 Discussion of BDNF results

For BDNF, we found significant lower levels in the stroke patients compared to the baseline levels of the control group (p<0.001). Whether these differences are due to stroke, cannot be known for certain, as there is a chance that the stroke patients had lower BDNF levels independently of the stroke. The differences are, however, quite large, making it more plausible that they are caused by a major event (like stroke) than by natural variation. Furthermore, our findings are in line with previous studies on BDNF, when comparing stroke patients with a control group [125, 126].

In our study, we did not detect a significant increase in BDNF levels in response to exercise. Although the absolute values (mean and median) for BDNF were ~ 10 % higher after exercise, this did not reach statistical significance. This is not in line with the well-established opinion

that acute exercise increases circulating levels of BDNF [164, 201-203]. Changes in serum BDNF in response to acute exercise have been reported to have a significant correlation with changes in blood lactate, indicating that the BDNF increase in response to exercise is intensity-dependent [204]. However, the control persons in this study did show significant increase in blood lactate in response to HIIT (p<0.001), without a statistically significant increase in BDNF. This excludes the possibility that the intensity during HIIT was the reason we did not see increased BDNF levels following exercise. As discussed above, however, this may have been affected by the use of plasma instead of serum. Most studies done on PA-induced effects of circulating BDNF are done by measuring the levels in serum, and not in plasma. In fact, there are studies done where serum levels were increased while plasma levels were not, in response to HIIT [195, 205]. The study done by Pareja-Galeano et.al [195], stated that BDNF in response to HIIT is unlikely to be revealed when measured in plasma.

Even if our studies did not demonstrate a significant increase of exercised-induced BDNF when looking at the full sample, we found significant changes in the males when comparing the baseline levels (before exercise) to the levels right after exercise (p=0.05). These finding are interesting, as a meta-analysis from 2015 demonstrated that the magnitude of BDNF in response to exercise is weaker in females compared to males [202].

5.2.3 Discussion of bFGF results

When compared with a control group, previous studies have shown higher levels of bFGF in stroke patients [81, 141, 142]. In our study, the opposite was seen with a tendency towards lower mean bFGF level in stroke patients compared to baseline levels in the control group, however this did not reach statistical significance with the Bonferroni correction. Lower levels, though not significant, of bFGF in the stroke patients may be due to other factors than stroke, as we cannot exclude that these patients also had lower levels prior to the stroke as well.

In the study done by Golab-Janowska [141], the contol subjects and the stroke patients were mached not only by gender and age, but also by known risk factors for stroke. This is in contrast to our control group, which probably lacked many of these risk factors and hence was a poorer match in this respect than the ones used in Golab-Janowskas study. Two other factors are also worth considering: The size of the stroke lesion and the time of the blood samples after stroke

onset: Guo and co-workers [142] found that the increase in bFGF levels depended on the severity of the stroke, where patients with larger strokes showed larger increases in bFGF. In the present study, we recruited patients with a mRS score of $1,91\pm1,37$ (median score: 2), and with cognitive abilities to provide an informed consent. This means that the patients included in the present study were not among the most sever stroke patients. In the study by Issa and colleagues [81], very little information is given regarding the patients from which the serum bFGF were measured, but they state that all patients were admitted to the hospital within 24h after stroke onset. This implies that the stroke may -on average- have been more severe than for the patients recruited for the present study, which were admitted to the hospital an average of 30 h (varying from 1 h to <240 h) after stroke onset. The increase in brain bFGF in the paper by Issa et al., are from stroke patients who died within 2 months after stroke (except for one patient, who died after 110 days). According to Guo and colleagues [142], serum bFGF peaked at 3 day after stroke and remained elevated for 14 days. In our study, the time between stroke onset and blood sampling varied greatly, as blood was routinely drawn between 12:00 and 13:00 the day after admission. Most of our samples, however, would probably have been obtained either before or after the peak in bFGF could be expected, reducing the likelihood of finding a large increase. The lower severity of the stroke and the early blood sampling after stroke onset, combined with the difference in risk factors between the control group and the stroke patients in the present study may therefore underlie the decrease seen in our study.

Just as it is known that exercise increase BDNF in the brain, the same is also known for bFGF [206]. The lack of studies makes it difficult to know if these changes in cerebral bFGF is reflected in the levels of bFGF in the circulation. In our study, we found no clear pattern in the mean of bFGF concentration before and after training, in either genders. Another study, looking at bFGF levels after a one-year exercise intervention in postmenopausal women also did not find any difference in bFGF levels [207]. In a third study, more similar to our, middle-aged men (<50-60) were exposed to an "all-out" anaerobic exercise. This study reported that bFGF decreased in response to this exhaustive exercise, reaching undetectable levels; the levels of bFGF were shown to decrease immediately after exercise, and stay low 50 min into recovery, when compared to the levels detected before exercise [208].

5.2.4 Discussion of EGF results

To our knowledge there are to this day no published studies done on the circulating concentrations of EGF in regard to stroke. Thus, we have very little to compare our finding

with. However, our studies showed significantly lower concentrations of EFG in the stroke patients compared to the baseline levels of the control group (p<0.001). With our conservative approach (Bonferroni correction), this did not reach significance for the age group >65 years, but was evident in the full dataset as well as in all the other age-segregated groups. Once again is it important to remember that the differences seen in the stroke patients and the control group don't necessarily represent alterations of GFs in response to stroke. The stroke patients may have had lower EGF levels compared to the control group also prior to the stroke.

In response to exercise, we found a significant increase of EGF immediately after accomplished HIIT, before it decreased to lower levels within 30 minutes (the latter was not significant). However, when we looked at the genders separately, we saw that this was statistically significant only for the males (p=0.04), and not the females. A lack of studies looking at acute effects on EGF levels in response to training, makes our findings difficult to discuss. However, at least one study by Accattato and co-workers [209] is quite similar to ours, and did also find decreased circulating EGF levels in response to acute exercise. Another study stated that also regular training led to a decrease in circulating EGF [210]. Since the latter study only measured EGF at the end of the training period, and at least 5 days after the last training session, it does not give information about how long after each exercise session the levels started to decrease. A third study has shown increased plasma values of EGF in response to prolonged exercise (2h run) [211], which is in contrast to our findings. Interestingly, this study showed increased EGF values in plasma, while no difference was detected in the EGF serum levels, which substantiate the difficulties in choosing between plasma and serum as the medium in which to measure GFs.

5.2.5 Discussion of Irisin results

When analyzing irisin, we did not find any significant differences either between the stroke patients and the control group, or in response to HIIT. There was not seen any clear pattern in the mean that could indicate an increase or decrease of irisin after training. For the stroke patients, however, the mean irisin level was 28 % higher than the baseline level. Still, when conducting an unpaired student's *t*-test, the difference did not reach statistical significance.

The lack of differences found in our study could be due to the large variation in the data for the stroke patients. The minimum value was below the detection limit (set to 0 pg/mL) and the maximum value was 50,900 pg/mL (the mean irisin level for stroke patients was 6741 pg/mL).

There were quite a few extreme values in the data for the stroke patients, causing the SEM to be much higher than in the control group. This could indicate that the sample is not representative for the population, as they are not closely distributed around the mean. The large SEM makes it more difficult to obtain significant results from the student's t-test. Nevertheless, the large variation in irisin levels may be of interest in itself, as they may represent a measure for later stroke outcome.

Previous human studies on circulating irisin levels after stroke havemainly been done to estimate the functional outcome of the stroke patients. The levels are therefore compared to other stroke patients, and not to a control group. At least two studies have established that low serum irisin levels are related to poor functional outcome in ischemic stroke patients [212, 213]. In both studies, the levels of irisin were measured on the same day or the day after admission, and then later compared to the patients mRS score 6 or 3 months after. Poor outcome was defined as mRs score >2, and was significantly associated with low levels of irisin. In the present study only 14/48 were classified with mRs> 2, and this was at hospital discharge. This may be the reason for why the mean irisin level of our stoke patients did not differ from the control group.

Post-exercise changes in irisin levels are not easy to predict, as studies have come to different conclusions [214, 215]. Lagzdina and co-workers [215], found quite divisive changes, with 56 % of the participants showing no significant change in irisin concentration after exercise, while 23 % showed a decrease, and 19 % showed an increase in irisin levels in response to exercise. Even so, the prevailing opinion is still that exercise increase the levels of circulating irisin immediately after acute exercise [216-219].

6. Conclusion and future perspectives

The purpose of this thesis was to investigate how circulating GFs and irisin change after stroke, and whether the same alterations were induced by exercise. Through our research we found significantly lower levels of BDNF and EGF in the stroke patients compared to the baseline levels in the control group. When measuring bFGF and irisin, we did not detect significant differences in the levels found in the stroke patients, when compared to the baseline levels in the control group. In response to exercise, the levels of BDNF and EGF significantly increased.

This tendency was observed in both genders but was more prominent in men than in women, and for BDNF it was only statistically significant for the males. For Irisin and bFGF, on the other hand, no significant changes in the levels was discovered in response to exercise.

It remains to establish whether the studied GFs and irisin are crucial for the stroke patient's progression, and whether exercise can be used to restore the balance in the same factors. The results from this study lays the foundation for further studies on alterations in GFs and other biomarkers secreted in the blood, as a response to stroke and exercise. A natural next step would be to examine a larger group of patients, measure the levels of GFs, irisin and other factors in their blood, and then follow the patients through the rehabilitation phase. By following the same patients over time, we may be able to see if any of the differences detected in the present study can predict progression in the rehabilitation phase.

A further research objective could be to include the detection of inflammation markers and perhaps screen miRNA in blood (to identify other alterations of interest), followed by ELISA for any relevant blood-born factors identified by the miRNA analysis. The effects of each alteration could also be tested in animal models, but for some of the GFs, translation from mouse to men has been challenging.

Information gained from the long-term follow-up suggested above, may be critical when aiming for more individually tailored treatment services after stroke. This may in turn contribute to lessen the major disabilities seen after stroke, hence also the major burden on the effected individuals and the societal costs.

References

- 1. World Stroke Organization, *World Stroke Organization (WSO) Annual Report* 2019. 2020: <u>www.world-stroke.org</u>.
- 2. Johnson, W., *Stroke: a global response is needed.* Bull World Health Organ, 2016. **94**: p. 634–634A.
- 3. Elling, I. *Hjerneslag*. 2015 12.10.2015 [cited 2020 17.09]; Available from: https://www.lhl.no/lhl-hjerneslag/fakta-om-hjerneslag/hjerneslag/.
- 4. Norsk hjerneslagregister, Norsk hjerneslagregister Årsrapport 2019. 2020.
- 5. Fjærtoft, H., *Kostnadsvurderinger ved hjerneslag.* TIDS NOR L, 2007(6): p. 127.
- National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke. Brain basics: Preventing stroke. 2016 18.11.2020 [cited 2020 20.11]; Available from: <u>https://www.ninds.nih.gov/Disorders/Patient-Caregiver-Education/Hope-Through-Research/Stroke-Hope-Through-Research</u>.
- 7. Lindén, T., C. Blomstrand, and I. Skoog, *Depressive disorders after 20 months in elderly stroke patients: a case-control study.* Stroke, 2007. **38**(6): p. 1860-3.
- 8. Farokhi-Sisakht, F., et al., *Cognitive Rehabilitation Improves Ischemic Stroke-Induced Cognitive Impairment: Role of Growth Factors.* J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis, 2019. **28**(10): p. 104299.
- 9. Li, J., et al., *Serum Brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels in post-stroke depression.* J Affect Disord, 2014. **168**: p. 373-9.
- 10. Rajsic, S., et al., *Economic burden of stroke: a systematic review on post-stroke care.* Eur J Health Econ, 2019. **20**(1): p. 107-134.
- 11. Sacco, R.L., et al., An updated definition of stroke for the 21st century: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke, 2013. **44**(7): p. 2064-89.
- 12. Thomassen, L. *Hjerneslag*. 2020 09.09.2020 [cited 2020 03.11]; Available from: https://sml.snl.no/hjerneslag.
- 13. American Heart Association. *Silent Ischemia and Ischemic Heart Disease*. 2015 31.07.2015 [cited 2020 04.11]; Available from: <u>https://www.heart.org/en/health-topics/heart-attack/about-heart-attack/silent-ischemia-and-ischemic-heart-disease</u>.
- 14. Arnesen, H. *Iskemi*. 2019 26.03.2019 [cited 2020 4.11]; Available from: https://sml.snl.no/iskemi.
- 15. Randolph, S.A., *Ischemic Stroke*. Workplace Health Saf, 2016. **64**(9): p. 444.
- 16. Reinholdsson, M., A. Palstam, and K.S. Sunnerhagen, *Prestroke physical activity could influence acute stroke severity (part of PAPSIGOT).* Neurology, 2018. **91**(16): p. e1461-e1467.
- 17. Magistretti, P.J. and I. Allaman, *A cellular perspective on brain energy metabolism and functional imaging.* Neuron, 2015. **86**(4): p. 883-901.
- 18. Mergenthaler, P., et al., *Sugar for the brain: the role of glucose in physiological and pathological brain function.* Trends Neurosci, 2013. **36**(10): p. 587-97.
- 19. Zhu, X.H., et al., *Quantitative imaging of energy expenditure in human brain.* Neuroimage, 2012. **60**(4): p. 2107-17.
- 20. Barros, L.F., *Metabolic signaling by lactate in the brain.* Trends Neurosci, 2013. **36**(7): p. 396-404.
- 21. Magistretti, P.J. and I. Allaman, *Lactate in the brain: from metabolic end-product to signalling molecule.* Nat Rev Neurosci, 2018. **19**(4): p. 235-249.
- 22. Falkowska, A., et al., *Energy Metabolism of the Brain, Including the Cooperation between Astrocytes and Neurons, Especially in the Context of Glycogen Metabolism.* Int J Mol Sci, 2015. **16**(11): p. 25959-81.
- 23. Muoio, V., P.B. Persson, and M.M. Sendeski, *The neurovascular unit concept review.* Acta Physiol (Oxf), 2014. **210**(4): p. 790-8.
- 24. Bell, A.H., et al., *The Neurovascular Unit: Effects of Brain Insults During the Perinatal Period.* Front Neurosci, 2019. **13**: p. 1452.
- 25. Stamatovic, S.M., R.F. Keep, and A.V. Andjelkovic, *Brain endothelial cell-cell junctions: how to "open" the blood brain barrier.* Curr Neuropharmacol, 2008.
 6(3): p. 179-92.
- 26. Rosenberg, G.A., *Chapter 61 Matrix Metalloproteinases and Extracellular Matrix in the Central Nervous System*, in *Primer on Cerebrovascular Diseases (Second Edition)*, L.R. Caplan, et al., Editors. 2017, Academic Press: San Diego. p. 291-295.
- 27. Nelson, A.R., et al., *Neurovascular dysfunction and neurodegeneration in dementia and Alzheimer's disease.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 2016. **1862**(5): p. 887-900.
- 28. Meyer, N., et al., *Oligodendrocytes in the Mouse Corpus Callosum Maintain Axonal Function by Delivery of Glucose.* Cell Rep, 2018. **22**(9): p. 2383-2394.
- 29. Bradl, M. and H. Lassmann, *Oligodendrocytes: biology and pathology*. Acta Neuropathol, 2010. **119**(1): p. 37-53.
- 30. Sá-Pereira, I., D. Brites, and M.A. Brito, *Neurovascular unit: a focus on pericytes.* Mol Neurobiol, 2012. **45**(2): p. 327-47.
- 31. McConnell, H.L., et al., *The Translational Significance of the Neurovascular Unit.* J Biol Chem, 2017. **292**(3): p. 762-770.
- 32. Zhao, X., et al., *Microglial interactions with the neurovascular system in physiology and pathology.* Dev Neurobiol, 2018. **78**(6): p. 604-617.
- 33. ElAli, A. and S. Rivest, *Microglia Ontology and Signaling*. Front Cell Dev Biol, 2016.
 4: p. 72.
- 34. Nakanishi, M., et al., *Microglia-derived interleukin-6 and leukaemia inhibitory factor promote astrocytic differentiation of neural stem/progenitor cells.* Eur J Neurosci, 2007. **25**(3): p. 649-58.
- 35. Ding, X., et al., *Activated microglia induce the production of reactive oxygen species and promote apoptosis of co-cultured retinal microvascular pericytes.* Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol, 2017. **255**(4): p. 777-788.
- 36. Silva., G., et al., *Acute Ischemic Stroke: Imaging and Intervention*. Second edition ed. 2011: Springer. p. 25-42.
- 37. Patel, R.A.G. and P.W. McMullen, *Neuroprotection in the Treatment of Acute Ischemic Stroke.* Prog Cardiovasc Dis, 2017. **59**(6): p. 542-548.
- 38. Quillinan, N., P.S. Herson, and R.J. Traystman, *Neuropathophysiology of Brain Injury.* Anesthesiol Clin, 2016. **34**(3): p. 453-64.
- 39. Doyle, K.P., R.P. Simon, and M.P. Stenzel-Poore, *Mechanisms of ischemic brain damage*. Neuropharmacology, 2008. **55**(3): p. 310-8.
- 40. Yu, Y., et al., *Defining Core and Penumbra in Ischemic Stroke: A Voxel- and Volume-Based Analysis of Whole Brain CT Perfusion.* Sci Rep, 2016. **6**: p. 20932.
- 41. Geiseler, S.J. and C. Morland, *The Janus Face of VEGF in Stroke*. Int J Mol Sci, 2018. **19**(5).
- 42. Dąbrowski, J., et al., *Brain Functional Reserve in the Context of Neuroplasticity after Stroke.* Neural Plast, 2019. **2019**: p. 9708905.
- 43. von Bernhardi, R., L.E. Bernhardi, and J. Eugenín, *What Is Neural Plasticity?* Adv Exp Med Biol, 2017. **1015**: p. 1-15.

- 44. Carmichael, S.T., et al., *New patterns of intracortical projections after focal cortical stroke.* Neurobiol Dis, 2001. **8**(5): p. 910-22.
- 45. Donega, V., et al., *The endogenous regenerative capacity of the damaged newborn brain: boosting neurogenesis with mesenchymal stem cell treatment.* J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2013. **33**(5): p. 625-34.
- 46. Murphy, T.H. and D. Corbett, *Plasticity during stroke recovery: from synapse to behaviour.* Nat Rev Neurosci, 2009. **10**(12): p. 861-72.
- 47. Brown, C.E., et al., *Extensive turnover of dendritic spines and vascular remodeling in cortical tissues recovering from stroke.* J Neurosci, 2007. **27**(15): p. 4101-9.
- 48. Cramer, S.C., *Treatments to Promote Neural Repair after Stroke*. J Stroke, 2018. **20**(1): p. 57-70.
- 49. American Heart Association. *15 Things Caregivers Should Know After a Loved One Has Had a Stroke*. 2018 07.12.2018 [cited 2021 03.02]; Available from: <u>https://www.stroke.org/en/help-and-support/for-family-caregivers/15-things-caregivers-should-know-after-a-loved-one-has-had-a-stroke</u>.
- 50. Font, M.A., A. Arboix, and J. Krupinski, *Angiogenesis, neurogenesis and neuroplasticity in ischemic stroke.* Curr Cardiol Rev, 2010. **6**(3): p. 238-44.
- 51. Xing, C., et al., *Injury and repair in the neurovascular unit.* Neurol Res, 2012. **34**(4): p. 325-30.
- 52. Snapyan, M., et al., *Vasculature guides migrating neuronal precursors in the adult mammalian forebrain via brain-derived neurotrophic factor signaling.* J Neurosci, 2009. **29**(13): p. 4172-88.
- 53. Ruan, L., et al., *Coupling of neurogenesis and angiogenesis after ischemic stroke.* Brain Res, 2015. **1623**: p. 166-73.
- 54. Kumar, A., et al., *ADULT NEUROGENESIS IN HUMANS: A Review of Basic Concepts, History, Current Research, and Clinical Implications.* Innov Clin Neurosci, 2019. **16**(5-6): p. 30-37.
- 55. Jin, K., et al., *Neurogenesis in dentate subgranular zone and rostral subventricular zone after focal cerebral ischemia in the rat.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2001. **98**(8): p. 4710-5.
- 56. Liu, J., et al., *Increased neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus after transient global ischemia in gerbils.* J Neurosci, 1998. **18**(19): p. 7768-78.
- 57. Jin, K., et al., *Evidence for stroke-induced neurogenesis in the human brain.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2006. **103**(35): p. 13198-202.
- 58. Planas, A.M., et al., *Epidermal growth factor receptor in proliferating reactive glia following transient focal ischemia in the rat brain.* Glia, 1998. **23**(2): p. 120-9.
- 59. Béjot, Y., et al., *Circulating and brain BDNF levels in stroke rats. Relevance to clinical studies.* PLoS One, 2011. **6**(12): p. e29405.
- 60. Seroogy, K.B., et al., *Proliferative zones of postnatal rat brain express epidermal growth factor receptor mRNA.* Brain Res, 1995. **670**(1): p. 157-64.
- 61. Islam, O., T.X. Loo, and K. Heese, *Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) has proliferative effects on neural stem cells through the truncated TRK-B receptor, MAP kinase, AKT, and STAT-3 signaling pathways.* Curr Neurovasc Res, 2009. **6**(1): p. 42-53.
- 62. Takami, K., et al., Upregulation of fibroblast growth factor-receptor messenger RNA expression in rat brain following transient forebrain ischemia. Exp Brain Res, 1993.
 97(2): p. 185-94.

- 63. Tao, Y., I.B. Black, and E. DiCicco-Bloom, *Neurogenesis in neonatal rat brain is regulated by peripheral injection of basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF).* J Comp Neurol, 1996. **376**(4): p. 653-63.
- 64. Rahman, A.A., et al., *Neurogenesis After Stroke: A Therapeutic Perspective.* Transl Stroke Res, 2021. **12**(1): p. 1-14.
- 65. Lagace, D.C., *Does the endogenous neurogenic response alter behavioral recovery following stroke?* Behav Brain Res, 2012. **227**(2): p. 426-32.
- 66. O'Donnell, M.J., et al., *Risk factors for ischaemic and intracerebral haemorrhagic stroke in 22 countries (the INTERSTROKE study): a case-control study.* Lancet, 2010. **376**(9735): p. 112-23.
- 67. Sun, F., et al., *Ablation of neurogenesis attenuates recovery of motor function after focal cerebral ischemia in middle-aged mice.* PLoS One, 2012. **7**(10): p. e46326.
- 68. Koh, S.H. and H.H. Park, *Neurogenesis in Stroke Recovery.* Transl Stroke Res, 2017. **8**(1): p. 3-13.
- 69. Encinas, J.M., et al., *Division-coupled astrocytic differentiation and age-related depletion of neural stem cells in the adult hippocampus.* Cell Stem Cell, 2011. **8**(5): p. 566-79.
- 70. Arvidsson, A., et al., *Neuronal replacement from endogenous precursors in the adult brain after stroke.* Nat Med, 2002. **8**(9): p. 963-70.
- 71. Kojima, T., et al., *Subventricular zone-derived neural progenitor cells migrate along a blood vessel scaffold toward the post-stroke striatum.* Stem Cells, 2010. **28**(3): p. 545-54.
- 72. Hatakeyama, M., I. Ninomiya, and M. Kanazawa, *Angiogenesis and neuronal remodeling after ischemic stroke.* Neural Regen Res, 2020. **15**(1): p. 16-19.
- 73. Ribatti, D. and E. Crivellato, *Immune cells and angiogenesis.* J Cell Mol Med, 2009. **13**(9a): p. 2822-33.
- 74. Hoeben, A., et al., *Vascular endothelial growth factor and angiogenesis.* Pharmacol Rev, 2004. **56**(4): p. 549-80.
- 75. Kovács, Z., et al., *VEGF and flt. Expression time kinetics in rat brain infarct.* Stroke, 1996. **27**(10): p. 1865-72; discussion 1872-3.
- 76. Kuwabara, K., et al., *Hypoxia-mediated induction of acidic/basic fibroblast growth factor and platelet-derived growth factor in mononuclear phagocytes stimulates growth of hypoxic endothelial cells.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1995. **92**(10): p. 4606-10.
- 77. Kanazawa, M., et al., *Microglia preconditioned by oxygen-glucose deprivation promote functional recovery in ischemic rats.* Sci Rep, 2017. **7**: p. 42582.
- 78. Krupinski, J., et al., *Role of angiogenesis in patients with cerebral ischemic stroke.* Stroke, 1994. **25**(9): p. 1794-8.
- 79. Beck, H. and K.H. Plate, *Angiogenesis after cerebral ischemia*. Acta Neuropathol, 2009. **117**(5): p. 481-96.
- 80. Staton, C.A., et al., *Current methods for assaying angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo.* Int J Exp Pathol, 2004. **85**(5): p. 233-48.
- 81. Issa, R., et al., *Expression of basic fibroblast growth factor mRNA and protein in the human brain following ischaemic stroke.* Angiogenesis, 2005. **8**(1): p. 53-62.
- 82. Krupiński, J., et al., Some remarks on the growth-rate and angiogenesis of microvessels in ischemic stroke. Morphometric and immunocytochemical studies. Patol Pol, 1993. **44**(4): p. 203-9.
- 83. Adamczak, J. and M. Hoehn, *Poststroke angiogenesis, con: dark side of angiogenesis.* Stroke, 2015. **46**(5): p. e103-4.

- 84. Finkelstein, S.P., *Growth Factors in Stroke*. Caplan L.R. (eds) Brain Ischemia. . 1995: Springer, London. p. 37-38.
- 85. Plata-Salamán, C.R., *Epidermal growth factor and the nervous system.* Peptides, 1991. **12**(3): p. 653-63.
- 86. Popovic, N. and E. Wilson, 2.06 Cell Surface Receptors, in Comprehensive Toxicology (Second Edition), C.A. McQueen, Editor. 2010, Elsevier: Oxford. p. 81-91.
- 87. Bertrand, S., et al., *Actors of the tyrosine kinase receptor downstream signaling pathways in amphioxus.* Evol Dev, 2009. **11**(1): p. 13-26.
- 88. Lanfranconi, S., et al., *Growth factors in ischemic stroke.* J Cell Mol Med, 2011. **15**(8): p. 1645-87.
- 89. Hermann, D.M. and A. Zechariah, *Implications of vascular endothelial growth factor for postischemic neurovascular remodeling.* J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2009. **29**(10): p. 1620-43.
- 90. Han, H.S. and K. Suk, *The function and integrity of the neurovascular unit rests upon the integration of the vascular and inflammatory cell systems.* Curr Neurovasc Res, 2005. **2**(5): p. 409-23.
- 91. Ma, Y., et al., *Effects of vascular endothelial growth factor in ischemic stroke.* J Neurosci Res, 2012. **90**(10): p. 1873-82.
- 92. Adams, R.H. and K. Alitalo, *Molecular regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis*. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2007. **8**(6): p. 464-78.
- 93. Kanazawa, M., et al., *Angiogenesis in the ischemic core: A potential treatment target?* J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2019. **39**(5): p. 753-769.
- 94. Forsythe, J.A., et al., *Activation of vascular endothelial growth factor gene transcription by hypoxia-inducible factor 1.* Mol Cell Biol, 1996. **16**(9): p. 4604-13.
- 95. Fandrey, J., *Oxygen-dependent and tissue-specific regulation of erythropoietin gene expression.* Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol, 2004. **286**(6): p. R977-88.
- 96. Marques, B.L., et al., *The role of neurogenesis in neurorepair after ischemic stroke.* Semin Cell Dev Biol, 2019. **95**: p. 98-110.
- 97. Hayashi, T., et al., *Rapid induction of vascular endothelial growth factor gene expression after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats.* Stroke, 1997.
 28(10): p. 2039-44.
- 98. Plate, K.H., et al., *Cell type specific upregulation of vascular endothelial growth factor in an MCA-occlusion model of cerebral infarct.* J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 1999. **58**(6): p. 654-66.
- 99. Morland, C., et al., *Exercise induces cerebral VEGF and angiogenesis via the lactate receptor HCAR1*. Nat Commun, 2017. **8**: p. 15557.
- 100. Zhu, J., et al., *Endothelial nitric oxide synthase: a potential therapeutic target for cerebrovascular diseases.* Mol Brain, 2016. **9**: p. 30.
- Jin, K.L., X.O. Mao, and D.A. Greenberg, Vascular endothelial growth factor: direct neuroprotective effect in in vitro ischemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2000. 97(18): p. 10242-7.
- 102. Svensson, B., et al., *Vascular endothelial growth factor protects cultured rat hippocampal neurons against hypoxic injury via an antiexcitotoxic, caspase-independent mechanism.* J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2002. **22**(10): p. 1170-5.
- 103. Panchision, D.M., *The role of oxygen in regulating neural stem cells in development and disease.* J Cell Physiol, 2009. **220**(3): p. 562-8.
- 104. Cosky, E.E.P. and Y. Ding, *The role of vascular endothelial growth factor in angiogenesis and brain circulation after stroke.* Brain Circ, 2018. **4**(2): p. 73-75.

- 105. Matsuo, R., et al., *Clinical significance of plasma VEGF value in ischemic stroke research for biomarkers in ischemic stroke (REBIOS) study.* BMC Neurol, 2013. **13**: p. 32.
- 106. Mykhalojko, O.J. and I.J. Mykhalojko, *Some biochemical changes in patients with acute ischemic stroke.* Ukr Biochem J, 2017. **89**: p. 31-35.
- 107. Xue, L., et al., *Changes in serum vascular endothelial growth factor and endostatin concentrations associated with circulating endothelial progenitor cells after acute ischemic stroke.* Metab Brain Dis, 2017. **32**(2): p. 641-648.
- 108. Slevin, M., et al., *Serial measurement of vascular endothelial growth factor and transforming growth factor-beta1 in serum of patients with acute ischemic stroke.* Stroke, 2000. **31**(8): p. 1863-70.
- 109. Seidkhani-Nahal, A., et al., Serum vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) levels in ischemic stroke patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis of case-control studies. Neurol Sci, 2021. **42**(5): p. 1811-1820.
- 110. Lee, S.C., et al., *Serum VEGF levels in acute ischaemic strokes are correlated with long-term prognosis.* Eur J Neurol, 2010. **17**(1): p. 45-51.
- 111. Miranda, M., et al., *Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor: A Key Molecule for Memory in the Healthy and the Pathological Brain.* Front Cell Neurosci, 2019. **13**: p. 363.
- 112. Park, H. and M.M. Poo, *Neurotrophin regulation of neural circuit development and function.* Nat Rev Neurosci, 2013. **14**(1): p. 7-23.
- 113. Volosin, M., et al., Interaction of survival and death signaling in basal forebrain neurons: roles of neurotrophins and proneurotrophins. J Neurosci, 2006. **26**(29): p. 7756-66.
- 114. Greenberg, M.E., et al., *New insights in the biology of BDNF synthesis and release: implications in CNS function.* J Neurosci, 2009. **29**(41): p. 12764-7.
- 115. Chan, S.J., et al., *Endogenous regeneration: Engineering growth factors for stroke.* Neurochem Int, 2017. **107**: p. 57-65.
- 116. Borodinova, A.A. and S.V. Salozhin, *Differences in the Biological Functions of BDNF and proBDNF in the Central Nervous System.* Neurosci Behav Physiol, 2017. **47**(3): p. 251-265.
- 117. Ohira, K. and M. Hayashi, *A new aspect of the TrkB signaling pathway in neural plasticity.* Curr Neuropharmacol, 2009. **7**(4): p. 276-85.
- Esvald, E.E., et al., CREB Family Transcription Factors Are Major Mediators of BDNF Transcriptional Autoregulation in Cortical Neurons. J Neurosci, 2020. 40(7): p. 1405-1426.
- 119. Pradhan, J., P.G. Noakes, and M.C. Bellingham, *The Role of Altered BDNF/TrkB Signaling in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis.* Front Cell Neurosci, 2019. **13**: p. 368.
- 120. Béjot, Y., et al., *Time-dependent contribution of non neuronal cells to BDNF* production after ischemic stroke in rats. Neurochem Int, 2011. **58**(1): p. 102-11.
- 121. Sulejczak, D., et al., *Focal photothrombotic lesion of the rat motor cortex increases BDNF levels in motor-sensory cortical areas not accompanied by recovery of forelimb motor skills.* J Neurotrauma, 2007. **24**(8): p. 1362-77.
- 122. Liu, W., et al., *Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor and Its Potential Therapeutic Role in Stroke Comorbidities.* Neural Plast, 2020. **2020**: p. 1969482.
- Schäbitz, W.R., et al., Intravenous brain-derived neurotrophic factor enhances poststroke sensorimotor recovery and stimulates neurogenesis. Stroke, 2007. 38(7): p. 2165-72.

- 124. Scharfman, H., et al., *Increased neurogenesis and the ectopic granule cells after intrahippocampal BDNF infusion in adult rats.* Exp Neurol, 2005. **192**(2): p. 348-56.
- 125. Stanne, T.M., et al., *Low Circulating Acute Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Levels Are Associated With Poor Long-Term Functional Outcome After Ischemic Stroke.* Stroke, 2016. **47**(7): p. 1943-5.
- 126. Wang, J., et al., *Low Serum Levels of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Were Associated with Poor Short-Term Functional Outcome and Mortality in Acute Ischemic Stroke.* Mol Neurobiol, 2017. **54**(9): p. 7335-7342.
- 127. Mourão, A.M., et al., *Plasma Levels of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor are Associated with Prognosis in the Acute Phase of Ischemic Stroke.* J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis, 2019. **28**(3): p. 735-740.
- 128. Bikfalvi, A., et al., *Biological roles of fibroblast growth factor-2.* Endocr Rev, 1997. **18**(1): p. 26-45.
- 129. Ornitz, D.M. and N. Itoh, *The Fibroblast Growth Factor signaling pathway.* Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol, 2015. **4**(3): p. 215-66.
- 130. Eckenstein, F.P., G.D. Shipley, and R. Nishi, *Acidic and basic fibroblast growth factors in the nervous system: distribution and differential alteration of levels after injury of central versus peripheral nerve.* J Neurosci, 1991. **11**(2): p. 412-9.
- 131. Eckenstein, F.P., *Fibroblast growth factors in the nervous system.* J Neurobiol, 1994. **25**(11): p. 1467-80.
- 132. McNeil, P.L., et al., *Growth factors are released by mechanically wounded endothelial cells.* J Cell Biol, 1989. **109**(2): p. 811-22.
- 133. Yun, Y.R., et al., *Fibroblast growth factors: biology, function, and application for tissue regeneration.* J Tissue Eng, 2010. **2010**: p. 218142.
- 134. Ay, H., et al., *Potential usefulness of basic fibroblast growth factor as a treatment for stroke.* Cerebrovasc Dis, 1999. **9**(3): p. 131-5.
- 135. Speliotes, E.K., et al., *Increased expression of basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) following focal cerebral infarction in the rat.* Brain Res Mol Brain Res, 1996. **39**(1-2): p. 31-42.
- 136. Masumura, M., et al., *Selective induction of fibroblast growth factor receptor-1 mRNA after transient focal ischemia in the cerebral cortex of rats.* Neurosci Lett, 1996. **213**(2): p. 119-22.
- 137. Alzheimer, C. and S. Werner, *Fibroblast growth factors and neuroprotection.* Adv Exp Med Biol, 2002. **513**: p. 335-51.
- 138. Zhang, J.J., et al., *Transplantation of bFGF-expressing neural stem cells promotes cell migration and functional recovery in rat brain after transient ischemic stroke.* Oncotarget, 2017. **8**(60): p. 102067-102077.
- 139. Nakamichi, M., et al., *Basic Fibroblast Growth Factor Induces Angiogenic Properties of Fibrocytes to Stimulate Vascular Formation during Wound Healing.* Am J Pathol, 2016. **186**(12): p. 3203-3216.
- 140. Nieto-Sampedro, M., et al., *Epidermal growth factor receptor immunoreactivity in rat brain astrocytes. Response to injury.* Neurosci Lett, 1988. **91**(3): p. 276-282.
- 141. Golab-Janowska, M., et al., Elevated Inflammatory Parameter Levels Negatively Impact Populations of Circulating Stem Cells (CD133+), Early Endothelial Progenitor Cells (CD133+/VEGFR2+), and Fibroblast Growth Factor in Stroke Patients. Curr Neurovasc Res, 2019. **16**(1): p. 19-26.
- 142. Guo, H., et al., *Serial measurement of serum basic fibroblast growth factor in patients with acute cerebral infarction.* Neurosci Lett, 2006. **393**(1): p. 56-9.

- 143. Pritchard, C., *Epidermal Growth Factor*, in *Brenner's Encyclopedia of Genetics (Second Edition)*, S. Maloy and K. Hughes, Editors. 2013, Academic Press: San Diego. p. 497-499.
- 144. Pache, J.C., *EPIDERMAL GROWTH FACTORS*, in *Encyclopedia of Respiratory Medicine*, G.J. Laurent and S.D. Shapiro, Editors. 2006, Academic Press: Oxford. p. 129-133.
- 145. Wieduwilt, M.J. and M.M. Moasser, *The epidermal growth factor receptor family: biology driving targeted therapeutics.* Cell Mol Life Sci, 2008. **65**(10): p. 1566-84.
- 146. Tang, Y., et al., *JAK2/STAT3 pathway is involved in the protective effects of epidermal growth factor receptor activation against cerebral ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats.* Neurosci Lett, 2018. **662**: p. 219-226.
- 147. Scalabrino, G., Epidermal Growth Factor in the CNS: A Beguiling Journey from Integrated Cell Biology to Multiple Sclerosis. An Extensive Translational Overview. Cell Mol Neurobiol, 2020.
- 148. Chen, J., et al., *Expression and Function of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor in Physiology and Disease.* Physiol Rev, 2016. **96**(3): p. 1025-1069.
- 149. Levison, S.W., et al., *IL-6-type cytokines enhance epidermal growth factorstimulated astrocyte proliferation.* Glia, 2000. **32**(3): p. 328-37.
- 150. Liu, B. and A.H. Neufeld, *Activation of epidermal growth factor receptors directs astrocytes to organize in a network surrounding axons in the developing rat optic nerve.* Dev Biol, 2004. **273**(2): p. 297-307.
- 151. Liu, B. and A.H. Neufeld, *Activation of epidermal growth factor receptors in astrocytes: from development to neural injury.* J Neurosci Res, 2007. **85**(16): p. 3523-9.
- 152. Mehta, V.B. and G.E. Besner, *HB-EGF promotes angiogenesis in endothelial cells via PI3-kinase and MAPK signaling pathways.* Growth Factors, 2007. **25**(4): p. 253-63.
- 153. Ariansen, I.K.H. *Fysisk aktivitet i Noreg*. 2017 27.09.2017 [cited 2021 02.03]; Available from: <u>https://www.fhi.no/nettpub/hin/levevaner/fysisk-aktivitet/</u>.
- 154. Caspersen, C.J., K.E. Powell, and G.M. Christenson, *Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research.* Public Health Rep, 1985. **100**(2): p. 126-31.
- 155. Li, J. and J. Siegrist, *Physical activity and risk of cardiovascular disease--a metaanalysis of prospective cohort studies.* Int J Environ Res Public Health, 2012. **9**(2): p. 391-407.
- 156. Saunders, D.H., et al., *Physical fitness training for stroke patients.* Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2016. **3**(3): p. Cd003316.
- 157. Saunders, D.H., C.A. Greig, and G.E. Mead, *Physical activity and exercise after stroke: review of multiple meaningful benefits.* Stroke, 2014. **45**(12): p. 3742-7.
- 158. Di Raimondo, D., et al., *Role of Regular Physical Activity in Neuroprotection against Acute Ischemia.* Int J Mol Sci, 2020. **21**(23).
- 159. Pin-Barre, C. and J. Laurin, *Physical Exercise as a Diagnostic, Rehabilitation, and Preventive Tool: Influence on Neuroplasticity and Motor Recovery after Stroke.* Neural Plast, 2015. **2015**: p. 608581.
- 160. Scheffer, D.D.L. and A. Latini, *Exercise-induced immune system response: Antiinflammatory status on peripheral and central organs.* Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis, 2020. **1866**(10): p. 165823.
- 161. Marlatt, M.W., et al., *Running throughout middle-age improves memory function, hippocampal neurogenesis, and BDNF levels in female C57BL/6J mice.* Dev Neurobiol, 2012. **72**(6): p. 943-52.

- 162. Ploughman, M. and L.P. Kelly, *Four birds with one stone? Reparative, neuroplastic, cardiorespiratory, and metabolic benefits of aerobic exercise poststroke.* Curr Opin Neurol, 2016. **29**(6): p. 684-692.
- 163. Otsuka, S., et al., *The neuroprotective effects of preconditioning exercise on brain damage and neurotrophic factors after focal brain ischemia in rats.* Behav Brain Res, 2016. **303**: p. 9-18.
- 164. Cotman, C.W. and N.C. Berchtold, *Exercise: a behavioral intervention to enhance brain health and plasticity.* Trends Neurosci, 2002. **25**(6): p. 295-301.
- 165. Gao, Y., et al., *Treadmill exercise promotes angiogenesis in the ischemic penumbra of rat brains through caveolin-1/VEGF signaling pathways.* Brain Res, 2014. **1585**: p. 83-90.
- 166. Liu, Y., et al., *The Neuroprotective Effect of Irisin in Ischemic Stroke*. Front Aging Neurosci, 2020. **12**: p. 588958.
- 167. Albayrak, S., et al., *Effect of carnosine, methylprednisolone and their combined application on irisin levels in the plasma and brain of rats with acute spinal cord injury.* Neuropeptides, 2015. **52**: p. 47-54.
- 168. Zhang, J. and W. Zhang, *Can irisin be a linker between physical activity and brain function?* Biomol Concepts, 2016. **7**(4): p. 253-8.
- 169. Ruan, Q., et al., *Detection and quantitation of irisin in human cerebrospinal fluid by tandem mass spectrometry.* Peptides, 2018. **103**: p. 60-64.
- 170. Boström, P., et al., A PGC1- α -dependent myokine that drives brown-fat-like development of white fat and thermogenesis. Nature, 2012. **481**(7382): p. 463-8.
- 171. Wrann, C.D., et al., *Exercise Induces Hippocampal BDNF through a PGC-1α/FNDC5 Pathway.* Cell Metab, 2013. **18**(5): p. 649-659.
- 172. Jin, Z., et al., *Neuroprotective effects of irisin against cerebral ischemia/ reperfusion injury via Notch signaling pathway.* Biomed Pharmacother, 2019. **120**: p. 109452.
- 173. Tu, T., J. Peng, and Y. Jiang, *FNDC5/Irisin: A New Protagonist in Acute Brain Injury.* Stem Cells Dev, 2020. **29**(9): p. 533-543.
- 174. Tu, W.J., et al., *Decreased Concentration of Irisin Is Associated with Poor Functional Outcome in Ischemic Stroke.* Neurotherapeutics, 2018. **15**(4): p. 1158-1167.
- 175. Calverley, T.A., et al., *HIITing the brain with exercise: mechanisms, consequences and practical recommendations.* J Physiol, 2020. **598**(13): p. 2513-2530.
- 176. Francois, M.E. and J.P. Little, *Effectiveness and safety of high-intensity interval training in patients with type 2 diabetes.* Diabetes Spectr, 2015. **28**(1): p. 39-44.
- 177. Cabral-Santos, C., et al., *Inflammatory Cytokines and BDNF Response to High-Intensity Intermittent Exercise: Effect the Exercise Volume.* Front Physiol, 2016. **7**: p. 509.
- 178. Boyne, P., et al., *Effects of Exercise Intensity on Acute Circulating Molecular Responses Poststroke.* Neurorehabil Neural Repair, 2020. **34**(3): p. 222-234.
- 179. Murawska-Cialowicz, E., et al., *Effect of HIIT with Tabata Protocol on Serum Irisin, Physical Performance, and Body Composition in Men.* Int J Environ Res Public Health, 2020. **17**(10).
- 180. Crozier, J., et al., *High-Intensity Interval Training After Stroke: An Opportunity to Promote Functional Recovery, Cardiovascular Health, and Neuroplasticity.* Neurorehabil Neural Repair, 2018. **32**(6-7): p. 543-556.
- 181. Ploughman, M., et al., *Brain-derived neurotrophic factor contributes to recovery of skilled reaching after focal ischemia in rats.* Stroke, 2009. **40**(4): p. 1490-5.
- 182. Kim, M.W., et al., *Exercise increased BDNF and trkB in the contralateral hemisphere of the ischemic rat brain.* Brain Res, 2005. **1052**(1): p. 16-21.

- 183. Bour, A., et al., *How predictive is the MMSE for cognitive performance after stroke?* J Neurol, 2010. **257**(4): p. 630-7.
- 184. Strobel, C., et al., *Manual Norsk Revidert Trail Making Test (TMT-NR3)*. 2018: Aldring og helse.
- 185. Heerema, E. *How the Clock-Drawing Test Screens for Dementia*. 2020 22.09.2020 [cited 2021 12.04]; Available from: <u>https://www.verywellhealth.com/the-clock-drawing-test-98619</u>.
- 186. Folstein, M.F., S.E. Folstein, and P.R. McHugh, "Mini-mental state": A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res, 1975. 12(3): p. 189-198.
- 187. Wilson, J.T., et al., *Improving the assessment of outcomes in stroke: use of a structured interview to assign grades on the modified Rankin Scale.* Stroke, 2002. 33(9): p. 2243-6.
- 188. Mahoney, F.I. and D.W. Barthel, *FUNCTIONAL EVALUATION: THE BARTHEL INDEX.* Md State Med J, 1965. **14**: p. 61-5.
- 189. Malt, U. *Hospital Anxiety Depression Scale*. 2019 11.10.2019 [cited 2021 13.04]; Available from: <u>https://sml.snl.no/Hospital Anxiety Depression Scale</u>.
- 190. Nes, B.M., et al., *Age-predicted maximal heart rate in healthy subjects: The HUNT fitness study.* Scand J Med Sci Sports, 2013. **23**(6): p. 697-704.
- 191. Borg, G.A., *Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion*. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 1982. **14**(5): p. 377-81.
- 192. R&D Systems. *What is an ELISA?* 2020 [cited 2020 07.11]; Available from: https://www.rndsystems.com/resources/what-is-an-elisa-and-elisa-types.
- 193. Aydin, S., *A short history, principles, and types of ELISA, and our laboratory experience with peptide/protein analyses using ELISA.* Peptides, 2015. **72**: p. 4-15.
- 194. Lipman, N.S., et al., *Monoclonal versus polyclonal antibodies: distinguishing characteristics, applications, and information resources.* Ilar j, 2005. **46**(3): p. 258-68.
- 195. Pareja-Galeano, H., et al., *Methodological considerations to determine the effect of exercise on brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels.* Clin Biochem, 2015. **48**(3): p. 162-166.
- 196. Polacchini, A., et al., *A method for reproducible measurements of serum BDNF: comparison of the performance of six commercial assays.* Sci Rep, 2015. **5**: p. 17989.
- 197. Lopez Yomayuza, C.C., et al., *Optimizing Measurement of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor in Small Blood Samples of Premature Infants.* Sci Rep, 2019. **9**(1): p. 6744.
- 198. Manau, D., et al., *Vascular endothelial growth factor levels in serum and plasma from patients undergoing controlled ovarian hyperstimulation for IVF.* Hum Reprod, 2007. **22**(3): p. 669-675.
- 199. Scherr, J., et al., *Associations between Borg's rating of perceived exertion and physiological measures of exercise intensity.* Eur J Appl Physiol, 2013. **113**(1): p. 147-55.
- 200. Lambrick, D.M., et al., *Prediction of maximal oxygen uptake from submaximal ratings of perceived exertion and heart rate during a continuous exercise test: the efficacy of RPE 13.* Eur J Appl Physiol, 2009. **107**(1): p. 1-9.
- 201. Knaepen, K., et al., *Neuroplasticity exercise-induced response of peripheral brainderived neurotrophic factor: a systematic review of experimental studies in human subjects.* Sports Med, 2010. **40**(9): p. 765-801.

- 202. Szuhany, K.L., M. Bugatti, and M.W. Otto, *A meta-analytic review of the effects of exercise on brain-derived neurotrophic factor.* J Psychiatr Res, 2015. **60**: p. 56-64.
- 203. Dinoff, A., et al., *The effect of acute exercise on blood concentrations of brainderived neurotrophic factor in healthy adults: a meta-analysis.* Eur J Neurosci, 2017. **46**(1): p. 1635-1646.
- 204. Ferris, L.T., J.S. Williams, and C.L. Shen, *The effect of acute exercise on serum brainderived neurotrophic factor levels and cognitive function.* Med Sci Sports Exerc, 2007. **39**(4): p. 728-34.
- 205. Slusher, A.L., et al., *Impact of high intensity interval exercise on executive function and brain derived neurotrophic factor in healthy college aged males.* Physiol Behav, 2018. **191**: p. 116-122.
- 206. Gómez-Pinilla, F., L. Dao, and V. So, *Physical exercise induces FGF-2 and its mRNA in the hippocampus.* Brain Res, 1997. **764**(1): p. 1-8.
- 207. Brenner, D.R., et al., *The impact of exercise on growth factors (VEGF and FGF2): results from a 12-month randomized intervention trial.* Eur Rev Aging Phys Act, 2019. **16**: p. 8.
- 208. Amir, R., D. Ben-Sira, and M. Sagiv, *Igf-I and fgf-2 responses to wingate anaerobic test in older men.* J Sports Sci Med, 2007. **6**(2): p. 227-32.
- 209. Accattato, F., et al., *Effects of acute physical exercise on oxidative stress and inflammatory status in young, sedentary obese subjects.* PLoS One, 2017. **12**(6): p. e0178900.
- 210. Yasar, Z., et al., Sprint interval training (SIT) reduces serum epidermal growth factor (EGF), but not other inflammatory cytokines in trained older men. Eur J Appl Physiol, 2021.
- 211. Konradsen, L. and E. Nexø, *Epidermal growth factor in plasma, serum and urine before and after prolonged exercise.* Regul Pept, 1988. **21**(3-4): p. 197-203.
- 212. Tu, W.-J., et al., *Decreased Concentration of Irisin Is Associated with Poor Functional Outcome in Ischemic Stroke.* Neurotherapeutics, 2018. **15**(4): p. 1158-1167.
- 213. Wu, H., et al., *Serum levels of irisin predict short-term outcomes in ischemic stroke.* Cytokine, 2019. **122**: p. 154303.
- 214. Pekkala, S., et al., *Are skeletal muscle FNDC5 gene expression and irisin release regulated by exercise and related to health?* J Physiol, 2013. **591**(21): p. 5393-400.
- 215. Lagzdina, R., et al., *Circulating Irisin in Healthy Adults: Changes after Acute Exercise, Correlation with Body Composition, and Energy Expenditure Parameters in Cross-Sectional Study.* Medicina (Kaunas), 2020. **56**(6).
- 216. Lee, P., et al., Irisin and FGF21 are cold-induced endocrine activators of brown fat function in humans. Cell Metab, 2014. **19**(2): p. 302-9.
- 217. Nygaard, H., et al., Irisin in blood increases transiently after single sessions of intense endurance exercise and heavy strength training. PLoS One, 2015. **10**(3): p. e0121367.
- 218. Huh, J.Y., et al., *Exercise-induced irisin secretion is independent of age or fitness level and increased irisin may directly modulate muscle metabolism through AMPK activation.* J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2014. **99**(11): p. E2154-61.
- 219. Huh, J.Y., et al., *FNDC5 and irisin in humans: I. Predictors of circulating concentrations in serum and plasma and II. mRNA expression and circulating concentrations in response to weight loss and exercise.* Metabolism, 2012. **61**(12): p. 1725-38.